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INTRODUCTION

The voyage of H.M.S. Beagle during which Charles Darwin was a
passenger formed the central part of a series of three expeditions
mounted by the Admiralty to survey and chart the South American
coastline. This process started in 1826 and continued until 1837. The
political unrest which occurred in South America following the collapse
during the Napoleonic War of the Spanish and Portuguese dominion
had led to a disturbed state of affairs. The British Foreign Secretary,
George Canning, realized that it was important to replace this influence
and to protect and guard this revolution-ridden continent; for there was
considerable commercial advantage in expanding the trade between
Britain and South America. In order to forestall President Munro of the
United States in becoming the sole protector of the new governments
of South America, Canning recognized the rebel régimes of Mexico,
Colombia and Buenos Aires as early as 1824. The new nations of South
America had only raw materials to export and manufactured goods were
in great demand. This need Britain set about filling, and during the
1820s vast sums of money were invested by banking and public com-
panies in mining corporations and in South American governments. A
fleet of over 250 British merchant ships was carrying on a thriving trade
in manufactured goods to that continent. There was therefore a need
both for a British naval presence in South American waters, of which
the Beagle formed a minor part, and also for accurate charts of the
coastline to assist shipping. In 1825 Captain Philip Parker King was
sent out with two vessels, the Adventure and the Beagle, to start this
survey. His task was to visit the newly opened territories and map
coastlines, channels, islands and harbours for British shipping. Much
of the detailed information on the South American coast had previously
been kept as a naval secret by the Spanish authorities. King’s part of the
task was completed in 1830 and the Admiralty published his charts of
the Magellan Strait area. These proved useful not only to ships bound
for Chile and Peru but to those going to the recently settled British
possessions in the Pacific.

Hydrographic surveys were directed from the Hydrographic
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Department by Britain’s greatest hydrographer, Sir Francis Beaufort.
His name is usually associated with the scale of wind forces he introduced,
but he made a much more important contribution to the 170 major
surveying expeditions sent out during his term of office. One of these,
in the autumn of 1831, was commanded by Captain Robert FitzRoy and
was to take H.M.S. Beagle on her second voyage to the coasts of South
America. Sir Francis wanted the Beagle to continue and improve on the
results of the first voyage. It was necessary to fill in the gaps in the
charts of many parts of the tortuous coastline of the southern tip of
South America, including Cape Horn itself. These detailed maps and
surveys involved very considerable trials to the vessel involved. It had
to find its way round difficult and dangerous shores, often in appalling
weather conditions, all the time not just making a passage from one
place to another but recording the detail of the outline of the coast.
Groups had to be landed in order to take sights and measurements and
in shallow water the ship’s boats were extensively employed in taking
soundings and charting shoals.

Captain FitzRoy furnished the Admiralty with 82 coastal sheets, 8o
plans of harbours and 40 views covering the southern portions of the
continent of South America. He gained considerable public honour and
recognition, and received the Royal Geographical Society’s medal in
1837, establishing himself as a first-rate hydrographer and surveyor. In
addition to its surveying instruments the Beagle carried 22 chronometers
so that an accurate chain of meridian distances and determinations of
longitude could be established across the Pacific, Indian and Atlantic
Oceans. This series of measurements enabled the distances between
widely separated places to be more accurately determined. In the
Royal Navy there had long been a tradition combining voyages of survey
and discovery to make the most of these opportunities for scientific
investigation and research into natural history. The voyage of the Beagle
was no exception, though for the first time the Admiralty made no
official provision for scientific research, apart from providing some
equipment for preserving specimens. To this end the captain provided,
and the Admiralty tolerated, an artist and a naturalist and they set
about making collections of rocks and sketches of animals and plants.
The captain also conducted his own research into meteorology and
anthropology and encouraged all the officers to take a lively interest and

curiosity in all they saw on the long voyage. However it must always be
remembered that the voyage of the Beagle was undertaken not in order
to take a naturalist round the world but to survey and chart the coasts
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of South America. It is one of the fortunate accidents of history that the
naturalist Captain FitzRoy chose was Charles Darwin!

Robert FitzRoy was an aristocrat. He was the grandson of the Duke
of Grafton and the nephew of Lord Castlereagh. He was born on 5 July
1805, the year of the battle of Trafalgar, at Ampton Hall in Suffolk.
Five years later his parents moved to Northamptonshire and the‘ follow-
ing year his mother died. He was sent to school in 1811 at Rottingdean
near Brighton, and in 1817 he transferred to Harrow School where he
remained for a year. At the age of twelve he then entered the Royal
Naval College at Portsmouth asa ‘Scholar’ where he had a brilliant career.
In October 1819 he gained the first College Medal and the mathematics
prize, gaining full marks in his examinations where he worked out
additional series of alternative correct solutions to the set exam problems.

He sailed as a ‘College Volunteer’ in the Owen Glendower to South
America and a year later was promoted to the rank of midshipman.
After service in the Mediterranean and the Channel he was promoted
Lieutenant in August 1824, the best of 27 candidates who sat the ex-
amination. He was appointed to the Thetis, a ship whose loss figures in
this account of the Beagle’svoyage. In the Thetis he once again sailed the
Channel coast and round the Mediterranean and did considerable service
in South American waters. In August 1828 he was appointed as Flag
Lieutenant to the Commander-in-Chief of the South American Station,
Admiral Ottway. There is no doubt that this able young officer of
twenty-three had considerably impressed the Admiral, and when a
command became available it was given to Robert FitzRoy.

In 1825 the Admiralty had sent out Captain Philip Parker King with
the ships Adventure and Beagle under his command to start the survey
of the coasts off the southern tip of South America. During this survey
the captain of the Beagle, Captain Pringle Stokes®, became increasingly
depressed with the miserable task of surveying this desolate coastline
and, more particularly, at the thought of yet another voyage to Tierra
del Fuego, and shot himself. He was not a very good shot, and it was
only after lingering in considerable agony, still aboard the Beagle, that
he finally died in the captain’s cabin. After burying him at sea, Captain
King returned to the Commander-in-Chief to request that Lieutenant
Skyring, the first lieutenant of the Beagle, be appointed to the com-
mand. However he was overruled by Admiral Ottway and the young
Flag Lieutenant FitzRoy was given the command instead.

* Not related to John Lort Stokes who was assistant surveyor on the Beagle'’s
second voyage.
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The challenge of taking over a ship which included the unsuccessful
candidate for command, and in which the previous captain had recently
committed suicide, and then sailing it to one of the most inhospitable
coasts in the world was one which brought out the best in FitzRoy. He
set about the task of surveying this forbidding coast with enthusiasm and
zeal and soon gained the ready co-operation both of Skyring and the
rest of the demoralized ship’s company. During this first surveying
voyage of the Beagle, the natives of Tierra del Fuego stole one of the
stout “whale boats’ so vital to the surveying activities of the ship. FitzR oy
instantly took hostages to ensure its return but the natives seemed satis-
fied with the bargain and kept the boat. FitzRoy then changed his plans
and decided to bring back to England his Tierra del Fuegian native
hostages in order to train and educate them, in the hope that when they
were returned to their native land they would spread their new ideas of
Christianity and civilization amongst their fellows and make life easier
for any seamen who in future years should visit or be wrecked on these
inhospitable coasts. When he returned to England as commander of the
Beagle in 1830, he enlisted the help of various churchmen in educating
his Fuegian friends. In 1831 he stood as Tory candidate in the Parlia-
mentary elections for Ipswich, but was defeated. Dismayed at the pos-
sibility that the Admiralty would not send him back to South America
to continue the survey, he spent a considerable amount of his own
money in chartering a ship to repatriate the natives. However, at the last
moment, though not in time to save his deposit on the charter, he was

reappointed to command the Beagle on its second surveying voyage of
South America.

In June 1831 he set about the task of preparing the Beagle for this
voyage with his usual zeal and energy. Once again considerable amounts
of his own money were used in order to fit the ship out with the best
possible stores and supplies for its arduous voyage, and to modify and
strengthen it for comfort and safety. This time the Admiralty would not
allow a second ship to be involved in the expedition. Two ships greatly
eased the twin problems of obtaining stores whilst in remote regions,
and providing a back-up safety factor in case of shipwreck or disaster on
dangerous coasts. The two South American surveying voyages before
and after the famous Beagle voyage both had at least two ships, very
often of much larger size than the tiny Beagle. FitzRoy had to manage
on his own, and his repeated personal attempts to hire or buy schooners
or additional vessels to solve the problem were always frowned on and
forbidden by the Admiralty, resulting in considerable financial loss to
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himself, After a great deal of preliminary difficulties, and an official
enquiry, the Beagle finally sailed on its second surveying voyage on
27 December 1831. ——

During that voyage FitzRoy was involved in three political lnC:.ldEIltS.
While sailing from Monte Video to the harbour at Buenns‘ Aires an
argument occurred over health regulations with the Argentine guard
ship which then fired a shot through the Beagle’s rigging. Although she
was armed and could fire back, there was still great danger to the twenty-
two vulnerable chronometers stored in their special boxes, both in firing
a broadside in reply and in receiving a direct hit to a cabin full of clocks.
So the Beagle turned round and returned to Monte Video where the
resident British frigate was pressed into service in her defence. Almost
as soon as he was left alone in Monte Video another incident occurred
when FitzRoy was requested by the inhabitants to land forces to help
protect them against a mutiny of negro soldiers. This incident is fully
reported in the Narrative and in Darwin’s Diary but FitzRoy, although
he seems to have acted with all the care and common sense that was
required, nevertheless received reprimands both from the Admiralty
and the Foreign Office for interfering in this situation.

When he arrived at the Falkland Islands, which are still after 140
years an area of dispute between the British and the Argentine govern-
ments, he found them in a state of anarchy. Murder, robbery and mutiny
prevailed. In addition to the account included in the Narrative of his
reactions to this chaotic situation, he also outlined in the original version
the long history of the discovery and the settlement of the Falkland
Islands and the dispute between the various authorities involved. How-
ever, he failed to report hisactions either to the Admiralty or to the Foreign
Office and was soon in desperate trouble as inaccurate reports of his
activities reached London. He promptly received another reprimand for
interfering in the Falkland Islands, although there was little else that he
could have done. Reprimands were to become almost a part of his way
of life. He received them for hiring small vessels essential to the intricate
coastal surveys; he received them for failure to act in a polite and res-
ponsible way to his rather unhelpful Senior Officer in the Pylades; he
received them for purchasing the schooner Adventure as a companion
vessel and even came close to risking court martial by placing so many
of his officers and crew in the additional ship as toleave the Beagle under-
manned. Indeed he himself became so upset at having to sell the schooner
Adventure that he seriously considered resigning his command, although
his First Lieutenant Wickham persuaded him to continue.
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The kind of exploit which showed FitzRoy at his very best was the
wreck of H.ALS. Challenger. As soon as the plight of his old comrade
Captain Seymour of the Challenger became clear, he spared no effort
and indeed showed considerable personal endurance and bravery in
riding to the rescue, locating the shipwrecked crew and stores, shaming
the sluggish Commodore Mason into sending out ships to search for the
wreck and making certain that the crew were rescued. While engaged in
this rescue FitzRoy was obtaining information about the geography,
geology and produce of the country and the lives, language, literature,
and history of the Indian peoples through whose territory he was riding,
The long original account in the Narrative — of which this edition gives
a considerably abbreviated version — is a great testimony to his abilities
and energy when at his ‘zealous’ best.

His Majesty’s Surveying Sloop the Beagle was the third ship of that
name in the Royal Navy. She was built at Woolwich i1n 1819 and her
first remarkable exploit was to pass under old London Bridge and ascend
the river to fire a salute at the coronation of George IV. The sloop was
the first rigged man-of-war to get so far up the Thames. She was com-
missioned for the first survey voyage in 1825 and after that journey to
South America, returned to London where she was stripped and cleaned
out. When the second voyage was being prepared, H.M.S. Chanticleer
was found not fit for service and so the Beagle was recommissioned.

She was a small vessel of 235 tons; go x 25 x g feet. When FitzRoy
was fitting out for the second voyage he had the deck raised eight inches
aft and twelve inches forward, giving better sailing qualities and con-
siderable extra comfort to the crew. The class of ships to which she
belonged were known as ‘coffins’ or ‘half-tide rocks’ as the water was
supposed to constantly flow over the mid-decks. The bulwarks were too
high and the ships were deep waisted, making them distinctly dangerous
in heavy seas. They had a bad name as several had been lost during the
winter on ‘packet’ service. Those who sailed in the Beagle, however,
were confident of her ability to weather difficult seas and although she
was too lively for the comfort of at least some of her officers and pas-
sengers, she was always considered safe in difficult waters. She was
rigged as a barque with a small mizzen mast and a poop deck especially
arranged for taking surveying measurements. The quality of the equip-
ment and the skill with which the ship was sailed were a source of great
pride to all those who worked in the Beagle. Darwin and the two sur-
veyors worked in the large poop cabin, and next to the captain’s cabin on
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the deck below was the special compartment constructed to contain and
protect the chronometers. There is evidence that the Admiralty refused
to allow sufficient chronometers to be taken on the voyage and that
FitzRoy had to purchase his own. He certainly paid for an instrument
maker to travel on the Beagle to service not only the chronometers but
all the other surveying instruments and meteorological equipment. The
ship was severely overcrowded and it was only when officers and groups
of the crew were away in whalers or hired vessels on surveying expedi-
tions that conditions on board became bearable. A detailed look at the
log of the Beagle reveals the immense amount of care and trouble that
had to be taken to keep a lone ship in seaworthy condition in some of
the worst seas in the world. The Beagle was for most of its voyage so
far from anything resembling help or a dockyard that very great care
had to be taken to make sure that the sails and the rigging stood up to
the enormous amount of strain which was placed on them, often in
dangerous and difficult situations. Following its return to London in
1836, the Beagle was again commissioned for a survey voyage of the
coast of Australia sailing with many of her old officers and crew,
including Wickham as captain. Darwin visited the Beagle in May 1837
and wrote:

‘She sails in a week for Australia. It appeared marvellously odd to see
the little vessel and to think I should not be one of the party. If it were
not for the seasickness I should have no objection to starting again.’

Before long Wickham was invalided out and John Lort Stokes, who
had been the assistant surveyor and mate on the second voyage, took
over command of the Beagle. She eventually returned to Woolwich in
1843.

The Beagle inspired feelings of great affection in those who sailed in
her, as evidenced by the comments of Captain John Lort Stokes, her
last commander, on finally paying her off.

‘My old friend has extensively contributed to our geographical know-
ledge. Many events have occurred since my first trip to sea in her. I have
seen her under every variety of circumstances, placed in peculiar situa-
tions and fearful positions, from nearly the Antarctic to the Tropic,
cooled by the frigid clime of South America or parched by the heats of
North Australia. Under every vicissitude from the grave to the gay I
have struggled along with her and after wandering together for 18 years,
a fact unprecedented in the Service, I naturally part from her with regret.
Her movements latterly have been anxiously watched and the chances
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are her ribs will separate and that she will perish in the river where she
was first put together.’

In fact the Beagle was transferred in 1845 to the Commission of Customs
by Admiralty order for duty in the preventive service at Southend. She
was moored at Crouch Creek receiving the distinguishing number 7 and
in 1870 the hulk was finally sold at public auction to shipbreakers for
£525. Many of the original crew of the Beagle volunteered to join the
second voyage, and considering the difficulties and dangers they had
experienced on the first voyage this must be a compliment not only to
the ship, but to its captain. Nevertheless FitzZRoy had also recruited 3
number of unhelpful and dissatisfied seamen who caused trouble at the
outbreak of the voyage and when he reached South America there were
a number of desertions. Even on an apparently happy ship like the
Beagle with a crew largely of volunteers and with an enlightened captain,
611 lashes were administered during the five years of the voyage. Most
of the crew were extraordinarily young. At the start of the voyage
FitzZRoy himself was twenty-six, Darwin twenty-two, almost all the
other officers in their twenties, and indeed some of them only fourteen.
Most of the crew were under thirty-two and the one or two older sea-
men gave up as soon as they got to Rio de Janeiro. Altogether during
the voyage twenty-five seamen deserted and thirty-eight were dis-
charged When the Beagle sailed from England she had seventy-four
persons aboard and FitzRoy lists these on pages 35-6. However, he says
little about his officers who were young men of wide interests and
distinction.

John Wickham, the first lieutenant, had been on the first voyage and
went on to be captain of the Beagle on its third voyage. Captain King
said of him: “There is not a more deserving person in the service nor a
better sailor nor a more correct, gentlemanly, high-minded man’ and he
was greatly loved by Darwin and indeed the others on board the ship.
He suffered from seasickness when in small boats and yet did a
tremendous share of the hard work of surveying in detached small
vessels. He kept, or tried to, a neat, tidy and happy ship. He suffered
from dysentery during the third voyage and was invalided from the
service in 1840. He later became Governor of Queensland in Australia.

The second lieutenant, Sulivan, ‘took the palm for talk’ and was a
cheery, open-hearted, friendly officer, four years younger than FitzRoy,
whom he followed through Naval College, and sailed with as a mid-
shipman. He was brought to the Beagle by FitzRoy when the latter
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first became captain. He acted as a surveyor and did more than hls-fmr
share of the small boat journeys. He was described as: ‘A pert'ﬂct-sallnr,
a first-rate observer and navigator, a capital gunnery officer and indeed
an all-round man’. He was an amateur botanist and made a collection of
natural history specimens during the voyage. After his time on the
Beagle he went on a survey of the west coast of Africa but after only a
few weeks he transferred with his wife and young family to the Falkland
Islands where he took a leading part in the early history of that settle-
ment, spending several years in residence there and writing a great deal
about its geology and natural history. He too became a captain and
eventually got the job of Naval Officer at the Board of Trade over Fhe
head of his old friend FitzRoy. He became a K.C.B. and an admiral
and was present at FitzRoy’s funeral. He went to considerable trouble
to make sure that his old commander’s portrait was placed in the Royal
Naval College at Greenwich and that the state repaid to FitzRoy’s
widow some of the large amounts of his own money which her husband
had used on hiring vessels, fitting out the Beagle and generally extending
the quality and scope of his survey in South America.

By tradition the ship’s surgeon was the naturalist and Robert Mac-
Cormick, who was appointed surgeon to the Beagle, had trained himself
for the post of a ship’s naturalist. He obtained stores and collecting
materials from the Admiralty and in theory was all prepared, but his
personality and limitations were such that he did not remain long aboard
the Beagle with FitzRoy and returned home as soon as it reached South
America.

Benjamin Bynoe then took over as acting surgeon and indeed this
talented and charming man served on all three voyages of the Beagle.
His ‘affectionate kindness’ to those who were ill and his skill in attending
to them were never forgotten by his shipmates, all of whom paid tribute
to his qualities. On the third voyage of the Beagle to Australia he was
the official naturalist and made extensive collections of geological and
other specimens. He took particular interest in botany and made exten-
sive collections for Kew. He was an excellent shot, wrote the first account
of a marsupial birth, and invented a still for obtaining fresh water from
sea water. During the second voyage of the Beagle he made an extensive
collection of natural history specimens and frequently went ashore on
collecting expeditions with Darwin. When John Stokes was seriously
wounded by a spear on the third voyage of the Beagle, his life was saved
by a major operation which Bynoe conducted on the same surveying
table in the poop cabin that King, Darwin and Stokes had all shared
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during the voyage to South America. Dr Bynoe was a Fellow of the
Royal College of Surgeons and did further work as a naval medica]
officer including service on convict ships.

Among the midshipmen on the second voyage of the Beagle was
Philip Gidley King, the fourteen-year-old son of Captain P. P. King.
He had sailed off with his father on the first voyage when only nine and
eventually remained behind in Australia to live with his parents. He was
a skilled artist and draughtsman and became very great friends with
Darwin, and some of his experiences are quoted in this narrative.

John Lort Stokes was the assistant surveyor on the Beagle and
FitzRoy described him as his ‘oldest and constant ally in the surveying
game’. Stokes took a considerable interest in natural history and when
eventually he became captain he kept detailed observations on the
animals and plants of Australia. He was nearly killed when speared by
aboriginal natives but Bynoe saved his life. He surveyed the coast of
New Zealand at FitzRoy’s request and in later surveying voyages trained
up two future hydrographers of the Navy on his staff. In 1864 he himself
was proposed as hydrographer but not appointed. He became a rear
admiral in 1864 and a full admiral in 1877.

In fact, it 1s a remarkable tribute to FitzRoy’s skill at choosing his
junior officers that, during Darwin’s period of service, no less than five
of the Beagle’s officers were destined to reach the rank of admiral; two
became captains of the Beagle; two, eventual Fellows of the Royal
Society. They also included Governor Generals-to-be of New Zealand
and Queensland; a Member of Parliament; future Heads of the Board
of Trade and the Meteorological Office; two artists who achieved con-
siderable renown 1n the country of their adoption; three doctors; the
prospective Secretaries of the Geological Society and the Royal Geo-
graphical Society; an Inspector of Coastguards; an Australian property
magnate; the founding father of the British colony of the Falkland
Islands; six highly professional surveyors; four botanists of sufficient
standing to correspond with the great Hooker of Kew; five active col-
lectors whose specimens were to be eagerly described by the Zoological
Society and the Natural History Museum; one of the founders of the

science of meteorology; and the author of T%e Origin of Species. By any
standards a talented bunch!

But how did the young Cambridge graduate Charles Darwin come to be
part of it? In August 1831, the Professor of Astronomy at Cambridge,
George Peacock, wrote to the Professor of Botany, John Henslow:
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‘Captain FitzRoy is going out to survey the southern coast of Tierra del
Fuego and afterwards to visit many of the South Sea islands and to
return by the Indian archipelago. The vessel is fitted out expressly for
scientific purposes combined with the survey. It will furnish therefore
a rare opportunity for a naturalist and it will be a great misfortune that
it should be lost. An offer has been made to me to recommend the
proper person to go out as naturalist with this expedition. He will be
treated with every consideration. The captain is a young man of very
pleasing manners, a nephew of the Duke of Grafton [in fact a grandson],
of great zeal in his profession and who is very highly spoken of. If
Leonard Jenyns could go, what treasures he might bring home with
him, as the ship would be placed at his disposal whenever his enquiries
made it necessary or desirable. In the absence of so accomplished a
naturalist, is there any person who you can strongly recommend 7 He
must be such a person as would do credit to our recommendation.’

Professor Henslow promptly recommended the recently graduated
Charles Darwin. However, during the next few days a variety of hazards
very nearly prevented Darwin from accepting the offer. The letter to
him was delayed; Leonard Jenyns nearly accepted himself; Darwin’s
father objected strongly, and finally time began to run out. Through
the good offices of his uncle, the famous potter Josiah Wedgwood,
Darwin persuaded his father to let him at least try for the post, and after
a number of further difficulties Darwin, the hydrographer and Captain
FitzRoy finally met at the Admiralty. FitzRoy was a great believer in
phrenology and was ‘doubtful whether anyone with a nose shaped like
Darwin’s could possess sufficient energy to complete the voyage’ but the
two young men soon charmed each other and the offer was firmly
accepted. Darwin’s intentions of entering the church, marrying and
moving to a quiet country parish soon evaporated and he settled down
to the serious business of being a ship’s geologist and naturalist, the
‘philosopher’. He can have had only one serious regret about his decision
and that was the endless agonies that he suffered through seasickness.
Almost constantly while the ship was at sea his life was made a misery
by its movement. In fact during the five years of the Beagle’s voyage he
took every available opportunity to be on shore. He actually spent over
half of the five-year voyage ashore and, on land at least, showed remark-
able physical endurance. He undertook long journeys on horseback
camping out and living rough and he frequently climbed difficult and
dangerous mountains. On more than one occasion his reactions and
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strength helped to save the captain’s life or the lives of others in the crew.
The relationship between Charles Darwin and Robert FitzRoy has
always intrigued commentators. They were two active, ﬁnthusiastic,
lively-minded young men and there is no doubt that each in his own
way possessed an abundance of charm. That they had some disagree-
ments during the five years when they were living in close proximity
and sharing the same dining table is not surprising. In fact, to have had
no arguments at all would have verged on the miraculous! The letters
which they wrote to each other during the voyage reveal an almost
undergraduate enthusiasm for the projects they were engaged in. Their
politics were diametrically opposed, FitzRoy the typical tory and Darwin
the liberal whig, but although their diaries and letters show that politics
were discussed and argued about, they were still making jokes about
their differences when the voyage ended. None of the differences over
ideas which came about after the voyage was over are foreshadowed in
the letters, journals and diaries of the voyage itself. There is evidence
that FitzRoy’s strict fundamentalist views developed after his marriage
when he returned from the voyage. During the voyage home the two
men co-operated in writing an account of the work of the missionaries
in New Zealand which they published jointly in Cape Town and in their
respective accounts of the journey they reveal very similar attitudes.
Darwin certainly tried to take communion before sailing off to Tierra del
Fuego and FitzRoy, who had no chaplain, held divine services on board
rather less frequently than most other captains of this period (about six
times a year).
FitzRoy and Darwin maintained an intermittent correspondence and
a steady friendship over many years. FitzRoy was still visiting Darwin at
Down House in 1857, almost twenty years after the end of the shared
voyage; but he reacted strongly to The Origin of Species. At the British
Association discussion between Thomas Huxley and Bishop Wilber-
force, FitzRoy stood up clutching a Bible to say that he ‘regretted the
publication of Mr Darwin’s book’ and denied that it was ‘a logical
arrangement of facts’, He said he had ‘often expostulated with my old
comrade of the Beagle for entertaining views which were contradictory
to the first chapter of Genesis’. Most of this expostulation must I think
have occurred after the voyage rather than over dinner in the captain’s
cabin.,
From Mauritius in April 1836 Darwin wrote:

“The captain is daily becoming a happier man. He now looks forward
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with cheerfulness to the work which is before him. He, like myself, 1s
busy all day in writing, but instead of geology it is the account of the
voyage. I sometimes fear his “book” will be rather diffuse but in most
other respects it certainly will be good. His style is very simple and
excellent. He has proposed to me to join him in publishing the account;
that is for him to have the disposal and arranging of my journal and to
mingle it with his own. Of course I have said I am perfectly willing if
he wants materials or thinks the chit-chat details of my journal are in
any way worth publishing. He has read over the parts I have on board
and likes it.’

In fact on his return FitzRoy consulted the publisher Colburn and wrote
to Darwin in December 1836:

‘He recommended a joint publication. One volume might be for King
[the account of the first voyage of the Beagle], another for you and a
third for me. The profits, if any, to be divided into three equal portions.
What think you of such a plan? Shall I accept the offer of Mr Colburn
or wait and talk the matter over when we meet? I shall be in London
and remain there after 13 January. I told Mr Colburn I should give him
the answer in January.’

And this was the scheme that was adopted. Darwin set about the
writing of his volume, basing it principally on his own journal which he
expanded by more than half its length, and he remained not too happy

about the other versions. In a letter to Professor Henslow in March 1837
he said:

‘Now the scheme is that the captain makes a plum pudding out of his
own journal and that of Captain King’s kept during the last voyage
which together will make two volumes and a third I am to have to my-
self. I intend making it in a journal form but following the order of
places rather than that of time, giving results of my geology and habits
of animals where interesting. I have been going steadily and have already
made a hole in the work which I fear is more than the captain can say.’

FitzRoy was delayed partly by ill health and partly by the enormous
task of editing and preparing the sailing directions for South American
coasts and the many charts which were the results of the Beagle’s survey.
This work kept him very busy and although Darwin soon finished his
volume FitzRoy was still struggling with the task. In 1837 he received
Darwin’s manuscript and was very upset by the wording of Darwin’s
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preface. He felt that this did not give sufficient recognition of the
‘obliging, disinterested and kind hearted officers on board the Beagle’
who had assisted Darwin in his studies. It was most uncharacteristic of
Darwin not to thank others and although the original version of the
preface does not exist, 1ts lack of thanks must surely be due to oversight
rather than any deliberate omission on Darwin’s part. This disagree-
ment, which Darwin alludes to in his autobiography, resulted in a very
curt note indeed from FitzRoy to Darwin, but Darwin must have
apologized directly and a few days later FitzRoy was again writing to
him and explaining that full recognition should be given to the assistance
that the Beagle’s officers had given Darwin. FitzRoy wrote:

'I was also astonished at the total omission of any notice of the officers,
either particular or general. My memory is rather tenacious respecting
a variety of transactions in which you were concerned with them and
others in the Beagle. Perhaps you are not aware that the ship which
carried us safely was the first employed in exploring and surveying,
whose officers were not ordered to collect and were therefore at liberty

to keep the best of all, nay all, their specimens for themselves. To their
honour they gave you the preference.’

However the storm, as so many others, soon blew over and FitzRoy
continued working steadily on his volumes. By March 1839 he was
writing to Darwin about the advertisements which were to be inserted
at the beginning of the book and he went on to say:

‘I am sure you will agree with me in thinking it desirable to avoid swell-
ing the volumes with ordinary advertisements. King’s is 600 pages, mine
1s 696, yours I would conclude with your appendix to be between 640

and 700 and my appendix is 360. These with about 5o plates will be
tolerably thick volumes.’

They were indeed thick volumes! FitzRoy’s Narrative contains over a
quarter of a million words and his verbose Victorian style does not now
make easy reading. Even in its own time it was the subject of satire and
in the British Museum there is a handwritten send-up of the Narrative
by a ‘Captain Ross’ in which FitzRoy’s extensive use of notes, appen-
dices, quotes and elaborate explanations is made fun of. Darwin himself

was not too happy about the captain’s book. In a letter to his sister he
wrote in April 1839:

“The captain is going on very well, that is for a man who has the most
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consummate skill in looking at everything and everybody in a perverted
manner. He is working very hard at his book which I suppose will really
be out in June. I looked over a few pages of Captain King’s journal
[Volume 1 of the Narrative]. 1 was absolutely forced against all love of
truth to tell the captain that I supposed it was very good but in honest
reality no pudding for little schoolboys ever was so heavy. It abounds
with natural history of a very trashy nature. I trust the captain’s own
volume will be better.’

The Narrative, or to give it its full ponderous title Narrative of the
Surveying Voyages of His Majesty’s Ships Adventure and Beagle between
the years 1826 and 1836 describing their examination of the southern shores
of South America and the Beagle’s circumnavigation of the Globe in three
volumes with an appendix, was finally published by Mr Colburn in 1839.
FitzRoy wrote to Darwin in June 1839:

‘My silence has been caused by my own attention having been extremely
occupied lately by subjects unconnected with our work which have
engaged me so continually that I have not even yet read your volume. I
have dipped into it here and there but have reserved its steady perusal
for the ensuing fortnight in the country. My wife has it now with her
and from what we have seen in various glimpses I have no doubt what-
ever that I shall be deeply interested by reading it attentively, much of it
requires close thinking, I apprehend, when undisturbed by daily or
rather hourly calls upon one’s time. I cannot think that there 1s an
expression in it referring to me personally which I could wish were not
in it. At all events neither I nor my wife have yet lighted upon anything
that induces me to doubt in the smallest degree that I shall not be
thoroughly at ease in that respect. When I have read it through I will
write fully and freely to you on that subject.’

We do not unfortunately have that full and free letter but a few days
later FitzRoy put as a postscript to a letter to Darwin: ‘I am eagerly
and most agreeably occupied with your book’.

Darwin’s account, which formed the third volume, was so successful
that it was twice reprinted and a new edition as a separate volume was
required by 1845. From that time onwards it has gone on being re-
printed, now under its title of The Voyage of the Beagle. Captain
FitzRoy’s version, on the other hand, was never reprinted, which must
have irked him more than a little, A considerable portion of the original
Narrative now appears for the first time for modern readers in this
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Folio Society edition. This gives an opportunity of looking at the
historic voyage of the Beagle from the captain’s point of view and per-
haps in putting its importance as a voyage of survey and exploration into
perspective. I would like to think that Captain FitzRoy would not be too
upset at seeing his account republished even though an editor has had
the temerity to shorten it!

This present edition, then, has been based primarily on Robert FitzRoy’s
Narrative of the second surveying voyage of H.M.S. Beagle. His manu-
script journal has unfortunately not been traced and may not now exist.
Only in one short section (pages 189—202) has it been possible to use this
original and much more lively journal as it was read to the Royal
Geographical Society. The original Narrative is extremely long and to
prepare this edition it has been précised down and extensive sections
have been omitted. FitzRoy wrote long accounts on the anthropology
and the historical background of the areas he visited; he used long
extracts from the works of other authors, often in foreign languages, and
he includes an extensive apparatus of notes and appendices. In fact there
were so many appendices that they were collected into a fourth volume
of 350 pages which even FitzRoy called a ‘disorderly group of docu-
ments’! His last two Narrative chapters, written well after his return
from the voyage, are curiously different from the rest of the account,
one of them dealing with the origins of the inhabitants of South America
and their relation to the tribes of Israel, and the other with the con-
sequences of the Biblical Deluge. Both of these long and slightly
eccentric ‘fundamentalist’ chapters have been omitted. FitzRoy’s
account of the voyage follows a chronological order but as Charles
Darwin was so often absent from the ship on inland expeditions, sec-
tions of Charles Darwin’s diary have been included both to provide
additional information and to contrast with the style and the single-
minded vision of the captain. Darwin’s own diary or journal was ex-
panded by him to form the third volume. In this work other extracts
from official and private letters, reports and instructions from the
Admiralty comments and accounts by others on board ship have been
included to give, it is hoped, a different and a more balanced view of
one of the most famous voyages of all time.

The illustrations which have been used in this edition are by one of
the artists who worked on board the Beagle, Conrad Martens. When
FitzRoy sailed from England, he had employed Augustus Earle to act as
artist. In fact most of the officers, including FitzRoy himself, were
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talented water-colour artists. However, by the time they reached South
America, Earle was ill and very soon invalided himself from the ship.
FitzRoy was lucky enough to find a successor in Conrad Martens and
although later on in the voyage economy forced him to relinquish his
services, Martens’ drawings were the basis of the engravings used to
illustrate the first edition of the Narrative.

Conrad Martens was born in London in 18o1. His father was a
German merchant from Hamburg, and after his death in 1816 Martens
studied landscape painting under Copley Fielding, going on sketching
tours in Devon. In 1833 he was offered a cruise to India with Captain
Blackwood of the sloop Hyacinth but while at Rio de Janeiro he met a
returning officer who told him that the Beagle required an artist and
topographer, so he travelled to Montevideo and joined her on 1 Decem~-
ber 1833. FitzRoy described Martens in a letter to Charles Darwin as
follows:

‘Mr Martens, Earle’s successor, a stone pounding artist who exclaims
in his sleep: “Think of me standing on a pinnacle in the Andes or
sketching a Fuegian glacier”. By my faith in bumpology I am sure you
will like him and like him much. He is, or I am woefully mistaken, a
gentlemanlike, well informed man. His landscapes are really good com-
pared with London men though perhaps in figures he cannot equal
Earle. He is very industrious and gentlemanlike in his habits, not a small
recommendation.’

Martens found himself with skilled observers and proficient draughts-
men and his own work became more detailed and accurate. Darwin and
Martens became close friends and frequently went on expeditions to-
gether. Darwin wrote home: ‘Our artist who joined us at Montevideo is
a pleasant sort of person, rather too much of the drawing master about
him, but he is very unlike to Earle’s eccentric character.’

In October 1834 it became necessary for Martens to leave the Beagle.
The sale by Captain FitzRoy of the schooner and the return of its
officers and crew to the Beagle had caused an accommodation and cabin
crisis and there was no longer any room for this talented artist. How-
ever, after a stay in Valparaiso, Martens followed on to Tahiti, New
Zealand and finally Sydney by other vessels. He set up his studio at
Sydney and later when the Beagle visited Australia Darwin bought two
water-colour sketches from him at three guineas a time. The working
notebooks, sketches and finished water-colours of Martens have now
been brought together and show an accurate, careful and artistic view
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of the scenery which surrounded the Beagle on its expedition. His
method involved swift execution and directness of touch and an ex-pupil
states that he never lifted the pencil from the paper. He used four
strengths of line for perspective and no cross-hatching. Colour notes and
cloud effects were written on the side of the sketches. These were then
worked up into drawings which, if they gained the captain’s approval,
finally became engravings. In this edition some of the working sketches
and the water-colour drawings that Martens used to prepare these
engravings have been used as the illustrations. Martens continued to live
in Australia where he became an important illustrator of the early

stages of the country’s development. He continued to correspond with
Darwin and died in 1878,

Following the publication of the Narrative, Robert FitzRoy continued
working as one of the Elder Brethren of Trinity House and in June 1841
he was elected as an M.P. for Durham. This election resulted in con-
siderable controversy and a very long and acrimonious exchange of
letters and pamphlets between FitzZRoy and a Mr William Sheppard,
resulting 1n a ‘duel’ in the Mall outside the United Services Club in
which Sheppard strode up to FitzRoy and waving a whip delivered the
immortal line: ‘Captain FitzRoy, I will not strike you, but consider
yourself horsewhipped’. FitzRoy felled him with his umbrella and
friends had to separate them. It is difficult at this distance of time to sort
out the exact rights and wrongs of this protracted argument: but once
again FitzRoy felt that he was right and stuck through thick and thin to
this opinion, publishing a long series of letters outlining his point of
View.

In parliament FitzRoy took a particular interest in those matters
connected with the sea and was responsible in pressing for legislation to
provide examinations for ships’ masters. He did other committee work,
particularly in connection with the west coast of Africa, and was a
Conservator of the River Mersey. In 1842 he attended the Archduke
Frederick of Austria when he paid an official visit to this country to look
particularly at dockyards and factories.

In 1843 he was offered the governorship of New Zealand and on
accepting he resigned both his job with Trinity House and his seat in
parliament and sailed with his wife and family to New Zealand. He had
already during the voyage of the Beagle shown particular interest in
the special problems of this emerging country; the conflict between the
missionaries, the natives and the other settlers. Unhappily, as was the
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case with the voyage of the Beagle, he failed to keep his superiors in
London adequately informed of his trials and troubles and his decisions
were seldom popular, partly, no doubt, as he frequently took the side of
the natives. In his defence it must be said that he was given very little
support in an extremely difficult situation by his Government. Once
again, he spent considerable sums of his own limited money. Eventually
the volume of complaints about him became too great and in 1845 he
was relieved of his office and recalled to Britain.

His interest in steam-propelled vessels had always been considerable,
and he went as a passenger on various frigates during an experimental
cruise by Napier’s Channel Squadron, writing about his experiences
and forecasting many of the developments soon to come. He was made
Acting Superintendent of the Woolwich Dockyard for two months, and
in 1848 conducted the experimental trials of a new screw-driven frigate
called, appropriately for him, the Arrogant! The fitting-out trials of this
ship involved considerable technical problems but eventually it was
commissioned and the 36-gun frigate sailed for Lisbon with FitzRoy on
board. There in 1850 he resigned from active service in the Navy
owing to personal pressures — which mainly consisted of the ill health
of his son, who had in fact sailed with him, and the accounts he received
of his wife’s financial problems at home. When he returned to this
country he discovered that these problems had in fact been inaccurately
reported, and that his son’s health was much improved. He tried but
was unable to regain his active commission. He then became a managing
director of the General Screw Steam Shipping Company and was
elected a Fellow of the Royal Society in 1851. In 1852 his wife died and
there was at one time a strong possibility that he would be sent out by
the Navy to conduct a tidal survey, an exploit he would have thoroughly
enjoyed, but it came to nothing. In 1853 he became Private Secretary
to the Commander-in-Chief of the Army, Lord Hardinge, and was
unsuccessful in an application to become Superintendent of the Com-
pass Department. He showed a great interest in proposals for cutting a
canal through the Isthmus of Panama and spoke frequently on this
topic at the Royal Geographical Society.

In August 1854 the Board of Trade set up the post of Meteorological
Statist at a salary of £6oo a year. This resulted from consultations
between the Admiralty and the Royal Society and its purpose was to
collect statistics about weather conditions, principally for the benefit
of those at sea, to see whether this information could be used to save life
and to speed up passages at sea. Very appropriately, FitzRoy was
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appointed and he entered into this new job with his old zeal ang
enthusiasm, although once again there was the problem of failure to
keep his superiors adequately informed. Over the next few years he
founded the present Meteorological Office, bringing into use phrases
like “forecast’ and ‘gale warning’; he continued to canvass his idea that
knowledge of air pressure obtained from a barometer enabled some
degree of accurate forecasting of future weather conditions. He re-
married and reached the rank of rear admiral in 1857. He applied for the
job of Chief Naval Officer at the Board of Trade but this was given to
his old second lieutenant, Sulivan. He took a leading part in the Com-
mittee of Management of the Royal National Lifeboat Institution and
wrote his Weather Book in 1862. This was reprinted and translated into
many languages and forms the foundation of present meteorological
science. In 1860 he spoke at the British Association on ‘Storms’ and it
was at this same meeting that the famous clash between Thomas Huxley
and Bishop Wilberforce took place over Darwin’s views on evolution. But
continuing ill health, criticism and deafness brought about a breakdown
in 1865; and driven beyond endurance by worries about his health and
also by the pressure of work at the office, he committed suicide by
cutting his own throat with a razor on 30 April 1865. He was, without
doubt, a talented man in his own right. He certainly deserves to be
remembered as one of the founders of meteorological science, and
as a surveyor of remarkable zeal and enthusiasm, rather than simply as
the captain of the ship which took Charles Darwin round the world.

That circumnavigation is now most famous for the part it played in
the formulation of the theory of evolution. There is no dispute that the
gradual accumulation of facts, observations, specimens and ideas by
Charles Darwin during the long years of the Beagle’s voyage were the
raw material which his genius later transformed into one of the most
important contributions ever made to our understanding of the world
in which we live. But it should not be forgotten that Captain FitzRoy
and the officers of the Beagle also contributed an important, if not
essential element: a remarkable mixture of abilities talents and interests,
which provided the crucible for the crystalization of an idea which has
changed the thinking of man. I hope this edition of Captain FitzRoy’s
own Narrative does something to explain why,

DAVID STANBURY

1 THE START OF THE VOYAGE

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative 7

At the end of my first voyage in H.M.S. Beagle while on our passage
home I addressed the following letter to my commanding officer and
kind friend, Captain P. P. King.

Beagle, at sea, 12 September 1830

SIR,
[ have the honour of reporting to you that there are now on board of

His Majesty’s Sloop, under my command, four natives of Tierra del

Fuego.
Their names and estimated ages are:
York MInster. e iacd oo siniaioeiinn 26
Boat Memory .« sesicilanon i 20
JamesButton ........coeieinnn .. TH
Fuegia Basket (agirl) .............. 9

I have maintained them entirely at my own expense, and hold myself
responsible for their comfort while away from, and for their s:}fe return
to their own country: and I have now to request tl-mt, as senior ﬂﬂil:tj:r
of the expedition, you will consider of the possibility of some Pubhc
advantage being derived from this circumstance; and of the propriety of
offering them, with that view, to His Majesty’s Government.

I am now to account for my having these Fuegians on board, and to
explain my future views with respect to them.

In February last, the Beagle being moored in Townshend Harl:um:u-,
on the south-west coast of Tierra del Fuego, I sent Mr Murray, with
six men, in a whale-boat, to Cape Desolation. .

Mr Murray reached the place, and secured his party and IPE boatina
cove near the cape: but during a very dark night,.sume Fuegians, whose
vicinity was not at all suspected, approached with the dexterous cun-
ning peculiar to savages and stole the boat.

Thus deprived of the means of returning to tI';lE Beagle, and unable
to make their situation known, Mr Murray and his party formed a sort
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of canoe, or rather basket, with the branches of trees and part of their
canvas tent, and in this machine three men made their way back to the
Beagle, by his directions: yet, although favoured by the only fine day
that occurred during the three weeks which the Beagle passed in
Townshend Harbour, this basket was twenty hours on its passage.

Assistance was immediately given to Mr Murray and the other men,
and a chase for our lost boat was begun, which lasted many days, but
was unsuccessful in its object, although much of the lost boat’s gear was
found, and the women and children of the families from whom it was
recovered, were brought on board as hostages. The men, excepting one
of them, escaped from us, or were absent in our missing boat.

At the end of February the Beagle anchored in Christmas Sound; but
before this time all our prisoners had escaped, except three little girls,
two of whom we restored to their own tribe, near Whale-boat Sound,
and the other 1s now on board.

From the first canoe seen in Christmas Sound, one man was taken as
a hostage for the recovery of our boat, and to become an interpreter and
guide. He came to us with little reluctance, and appeared unconcerned.

A few days afterwards, traces of our boat were found at some wig-
wams on an island in Christmas Sound, and from the families inhabiting
those wigwams I took another young man, for the same purpose as that
above-mentioned. No useful information respecting our lost boat was,
however, gained from them, before we were obliged to leave that coast,
and she remained the prize of their companions.

Afterwards, when in Nassau Bay, our captives informed us that the
natives of that part of the coast, and all to the eastward, were their
enemies, and that they spoke a different language. This intelligence was
extremely disappointing, and made me anxious to persuade one of this
eastern tribe to come on board and stay with us; but I had then no hopes
of doing so, and gave up the idea: however, some time afterwards,
accidentally meeting three canoes, when away in my boat exploring the
Beagle Channel, I prevailed on their occupants to put one of the party,
a stout boy, into my boat, and in return I gave them beads, buttons,
and other trifles. Whether they intended that he should remain with us
permanently, I do not know; but they seemed contented with the
singular bargain, and paddled again towards the cove from which they
had approached my boat. We pulled on along shore, attended by other
canoes, which had been endeavouring to barter with us whenever we
stopped ; but at dusk they ceased following us, and went ashore.

When about to depart from the Fuegian coast, I decided to keep
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these four natives on board, for they appeared to be quite cheerful and
contented with their situation; and I thought that many good effects
might be the consequence of their living a short time in England. They
have lived, and have been clothed like the seamen, and are now, and
have been always, in excellent health and very happy. They understand
why they were taken, and look forward with pleasure to seeing our
country, as well as to returning to their own.

Should not His Majesty’s government direct otherwise, I shall pro-
cure for these people a suitable education, and, after two or three years,
shall send or take them back to their country, with as large a stock as I
can collect of those articles most useful to them, and most likely to
improve the condition of their countrymen, who are now scarcely

superior to the brute creation.
ROBT. FITZROY

This letter was forwarded to the Admiralty by Captain I<.'ing,t as soon as
he arrived in England; and a few days afterwards the following answer
was received.

Admiralty Office, 79 October 15630
SIR,
Having laid before my Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty your
letter and its enclosure from Commander FitzRoy, of the Beagle, rela-
tive to the four Indians whom he has brought from Tierra del Fuego
under the circumstances therein stated; I am commanded to acquaint
you that their Lordships will not interfere with Commander FitzRoy’s
personal superintendence of, or benevolent intentions towards these
four people, but they will afford him any facilities towards maintaining
and educating them in England, and will give them a passage home
again.
JOHN BARROW

I was, of course, anxious to protect the Fuegians, as far as possible,
from the contagion of any of those disorders, sometimes prevalent, and
which unhappily have so often proved fatal to the aboriginal natives of
distant countries when brought to Europe; and, immediately after our
arrival in England, they landed with me, after dark, and were taken to
comfortable, airy lodgings, where, next day, they were vaccinated, for
the second time.

Two days afterwards they were carried a few miles into the country,
to a quiet farm-house, where I hoped they would enjoy more freedom
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and fresh air, and, at the same time, incur less risk of contagion than in
a populous sea-port town, where curiosity would be excited.

Meanwhile, the Beagle was stripped and cleared out, preparatory to
being paid off. On 27 October the Beagle’s pendant was hauled down,

Both vessels’ crews were dispersed, as usual, unfortunately; and of
those who had passed so many rough hours together, but few were likely
to meet again. I much regretted the separation from my tried and
esteemed shipmates, and from our excellent little vessel.

Early in November I received the sad intelligence that the young
man, called Boat Memory, was taken ill; and that the symptoms of his
disorder were like those of the small-pox. Dr Armstrong, of the Royal
Hospital at Plymouth, whose advice I solicited, suggested that he and
the other three Fuegians should be received immediately into the
hospital, with the view of preventing further infection, and ensuring the
best treatment for the poor sufferer. The Admiralty having thus sanc-
tioned the admission of the Fuegians into one of the best hospitals, and
assured that they could not be under better treatment, I felt less anxiety
in leaving them for a time, as I was obliged to do, in order to attend to
duties connected with the survey; but I had hardly reached London,
when a letter informed me of the untimely fate of Boat Memory. He
had been vaccinated four different times; but the three first operations
had failed, and the last had just taken effect, when the disease showed
itself. It was thought that the fatal contagion must have attacked him
previously.

This poor fellow was a very great favourite with all who knew him, as
well as with myself. He had a good disposition, very good abilities, and
though born a savage, had a pleasing, intelligent appearance. He was
quite an exception to the general character of the Fuegians, having good
features and a well-proportioned frame. It may readily be supposed that
this was a severe blow to me, for I was deeply sensible of the responsi-
bility which had been incurred ; and, however unintentionally, could not
but feel how much I was implicated in shortening his existence.

Of course, I was anxious that no time should be lost in arranging a
plan for their education and maintenance; and deeming the Church
Missionary Society to be in some measure interested about the project
I had in view, I applied to their secretary, introducing them and myself
to the notice of the Rev William Wilson, of Walthamstow. Mr Wilson
at once relieved my mind from a load of uncertainty and anxiety, by
saying that they should be reccived into his parish, and that he would
talk to the master of the Infant School about taking them into his house,
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as boarders and pupils. In a short time, it was arranged that the school-
master should receive, and take entire charge of them, while they re-
mained in England, and should be paid by me for their board and
lodging, for his own trouble, and for all contingent expenses.

The inside of a stage-coach was taken, and under the guidance of
Mr Murray (the Beagle’s late master), attended by James Bennett, they
arrived in Piccadilly, and were immediately carried to Walthamstow,
without attracting any notice. Mr Murray told me that they seemed to
enjoy their journey in the coach, and were very much struck by the
repeated changing of horses.

I took them myself from the coach-office to Walthamstow; they were
glad to see me, but seemed bewildered by the multitude of new objects.
Passing Charing Cross, there was a start and exclamation of astonish-
ment from York. ‘Look!” he said, fixing his eyes on the lion upon North-
umberland House, which he certainly thought alive, and walking there.
I never saw him show sucn sudden emotion at any other time. They were
much pleased with the rooms prepared for them at Walthamstow; and
the schoolmaster and his wife were equally pleased to find the future
inmates of their house very well disposed, quiet, and cleanly people;
instead of fierce and dirty savages.

At Walthamstow they remained from December 1830 till October
1831 ; and during all that time were treated with the utmost kindness by
the benevolent men whose names I have mentioned; by their families,
and by many others in the neighbourhood, as well as casual visitors, who
became much interested in their welfare, and from time to time gave
them several valuable presents.

The attention of their instructor was directed to teaching them
English, and the plainer truths of Christianity, as the first object; and
the use of common tools, a slight acquaintance with husbandry, garden-
ing, and mechanism, as the second. Considerable progress was made by
the boy and girl; but the man was hard to teach, except mechanically.
He took interest in smith’s or carpenter’s work, and paid attention to
what he saw and heard about animals; but he reluctantly assisted in
garden work, and had a great dislike to learning to read. By degrees, a
good many words of their own languages were collected (the boy’s
differed from that of the man and the girl), and some interesting informa-
tion was acquired, respecting their own native habits and ideas. They
gave no particular trouble; were very healthy; and the two younger ones
became great favourites wherever they were known. Sometimes I took
them with me to see a friend or relation of my own, who was anxious
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to question them, and contribute something to the increasing stock of
serviceable articles which 1 was collecting for their use, when they
should return to Tierra del Fuego. My sister was a frequent benefactress;
and they often talked, both then and afterwards, of going to see ‘Cappen
Sisser’.

During the summer of 1831, His late Majesty expressed a wish to see
the Fuegians, and they were taken to St James’s. His Majesty asked a
great deal about their country, as well as themselves; and I hope I may
be permitted to remark that, during an equal space of time, no person
ever asked me so many sensible and thoroughly pertinent questions
respecting the Fuegians and their country also relating to the survey in
which I had myself been engaged, as did His Majesty. Her Majesty
Queen Adelaide also honoured the Fuegians by her presence, and by
acts of genuine kindness which they could appreciate, and never forgot.
She left the room, in which they were, for a minute, and returned with
one of her own bonnets, which she put upon the girl’s head. Her
Majesty then put one of her rings upon the gitl’s finger, and gave her a
sum of money to buy an outfit of clothes when she should leave England

to return to her own country.

I must now revert to matters more immediately connected with the
Beagle’s second voyage.

My own official duties, relating to the survey, were completed in
March 1831; when my late commanding officer, Captain King, ad-
dressed a letter to the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty expressive
of his approbation of the part I had taken, under his direction, and
recommending me to their lordships.

From the various conversations which I had with Captain King,
during the earlier period of my service under him, I had been led to
suppose that the survey of the southern coasts of South America would
be continued: and to some ship, ordered upon such a service, I had
looked for an opportunity of restoring the Fuegians to their native land.

Finding, however, to my great disappointment, that an entire change
had taken place in the views of the Lords of the Admiralty, and that
there was no intention to prosecute the survey, I naturally became
anxious about the Fuegians; and, in June, having no hopes of a man-of-
war being sent to Tierra del Fuego, and feeling too much bound to these
natives to trust them in any other kind of vessel, unless with myself -
because of the risk that would attend their being landed anywhere,
excepting on the territories of their own tribes — I made an agreement
with the owner of a small merchant-vessel, the John of London, to carry
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me and five other persons to such places in South America as I wished
to visit, and eventually to land me at Valparaiso.

My arrangements were all made, and James Bennett, who was to
accompany me, had already purchased a number of goats, with which I
purpused stocking some of the islands of Tierra del Fuego -~ when a kind
uncle, to whom I mentioned my plan, went to the Admiralty, and soon
afterwards told me that I should be appointed to the command of the
Chanticleer, to go to Tierra del Fuego.

My agreement with the owner of the John was, however, in full force,
and I could not alter it without paying a large proportion of the whole
sum agreed on for the voyage.

The Chanticleer was not, upon examination, found quite fit for ser-
vice; and, instead of her, I was again appointed to my well-tried little
vessel, the Beagle. My commission was dated 27 June, and on the same
day two of my most esteemed friends, Lieutenants Wickham and Suli-
van, were also appointed.

When it was decided that a small vessel should be sent to Tierra del
Fuego, the Hydrographer of the Admiralty was referred to for his
opinion, as to what addition she might make to the yet incomplete
surveys of that country, and other places which she might visit.

Captain Beaufort embraced the opportunity of expressing his anxiety
for the continuance of the South American Surveys, and mentioning
such objects, attainable by the Beagle, as he thought most desirable: and
it was soon after intimated to me that the voyage might occupy several
years. Desirous of adding as much as possible to a work in which I had
a strong interest, and entertaining the hope that a chain of meridian dis-
tances might be carried round the world if we returned to England
across the Pacific, and by the Cape of Good Hope; I resolved to spare
neither expense nor trouble in making our little expedition as complete,
with respect to material and preparation, as my means and exertions
would allow, when supported by the considerate and satisfactory
arrangements of the Admiralty; which were carried into effect (at that
time) by the Navy Board, the Victualling Board, and the Dockyard
officers at Devonport.

The Beagle was commissioned on 4 July 1831, and was immediately
taken into dock to be thoroughly examined, and prepared for a long
period of foreign service. As she required a new deck, and a good deal of
repair about the upper works, I obtained permission to have the upper-
deck raised considerably, which afterwards proved to be of the greatest
advantage to her as a sea-boat, besides adding so materially to the
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comfort of all on board. While in dock, a sheathing of two-inch fir plank
was nailed on the vessel’s bottom, over which was a coating of felt, and
then new copper. This sheathing added about fifteen tons to her dis-
placement, and nearly seven to her actual measurement. Therefore,
instead of 235 tons, she might be considered about 242 tons burthen.
The rudder was fitted according to the plan of Captain Lihou: a patent
windlass supplied the place of a capstan: one of Frazer’s stoves, with an
oven attached, was taken instead of a common ‘galley’ fire-place; and
the lightning-conductors, invented by Mr Harris, were fixed in all the
masts, the bowsprit, and even in the flying jib-boom. The arrangements
made in the fittings, both inside and outside, by the officers of the
Dockyard, left nothing to be desired. Our ropes, sails, and spars, were
the best that could be procured; and to complete our excellent outfit,
six superior boats (two of them private property) were built expressly
for us, and so contrived and stowed that they could all be carried in any
weather.

Considering the limited disposable space in so very small a ship, we
contrived to carry more instruments and books than one would readily
suppose could be stowed away in dry and secure places; and in a part of
my own cabin twenty-two chronometers were carefully placed.

Anxious that no opportunity of collecting useful information, during
the voyage, should be lost; I proposed to the hydrographer that some
well-educated and scientific person should be sought for who would
willingly share such accommodations as I had to offer, in order to profit
by the opportunity of visiting distant countries yet little known. Captain
Beaufort approved of the suggestion, and wrote to Professor Peacock, of
Cambridge, who consulted with a friend, Professor Henslow, and he
named Mr Charles Darwin, grandson of Dr Darwin the poet, as a young
man of promising ability, extremely fond of geology, and indeed all
branches of natural history. In consequence an offer was made to Mr
Darwin to be my guest on board, which he accepted conditionally; per-
mission was obtained for his embarkation, and an order given by the
Admiralty that he should be borne on the ship’s books for provisions.
The conditions asked by Mr Darwin were, that he should be at liberty
to leave the Beagle and retire from the expedition when he thought
proper, and that he should pay a fair share of the expenses of my table.

Knowing well that no one actively engaged in the surveying duties
on which we were going to be employed, would have time — even if he
had ability — to make much use of the pencil, I engaged an artist, Mr
Augustus Earle, to go out in a private capacity; though not without the

The Start of the Voyage 35

sanction of the Admiralty, who authorized him also to be victuall;ed.
And in order to secure the constant, yet to a certain degree mechanical
attendance required by a large number of chronometers, and to be
enabled to repair our instruments and keep them in order, [ engaged _the
services of Mr George James Stebbing, eldest son of the mathematical
instrument-maker at Portsmouth, as a private assistant. It was wished
that two persons should accompany the Fuegians, and endeavour to pass
some time in their country: but it was not easy to find individuals
sufficiently qualified, and in whom confidence could be placed, who
would willingly undertake such an enterprise. One young man was
selected by Mr Wilson, but a companion for him could not be found 1n
time to embark on board the Beagle.

In October the party from Walthamstow arrived, in a steam-vessel, at
Plymouth, and not a few boats were required to transport to our ship
the large cargo of clothes, tools, crockery-ware, books, and various
things which the families at Walthamstow and other kind-hearted per-
sons had given. In the small hold of the Beagle, it was not easy to find
places for the stowage of so many extra stores; and when dividing the
contents of large chests, in order to pack them differently, some very
fair jokes were enjoyed by the seamen, at the expense of those who had
ordered complete sets of crockery-ware, without desiring that any selec-
tion of articles should be made.

Instructions were given, by the secretary of the Church Missionary
Society, to the young man who wished to accompany the Fuegians, and
although he was rather too young, and less experienced than might have
been wished, his character and conduct had been such as to give very
fair grounds for anticipating that he would, at least, sincerely endeavour
to do his utmost in a situation so difficult and trying as that for which he
volunteered.

The established complement of officers and men (including marines
and boys) was sixty-five: but, with the supernumeraries I have men-
tioned, we had on board, when the Beagle sailed from England, seventy-
four persons, namely:

RobertFitzZRoy ........ccocuues Commander and Surveyor.
John Clements Wickham ........ Lieutenant.

Bartholomew James Sulivan ..... . Lieutenant,

Edward Main Chaffers .......... Master.

Robert MacCormick ............ Surgeon.

George Rowlett i vas-anaannh Purser.

Alexander Derbishire . ... vvereee s Mate.
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Peter Benson Stewart ............ Mate.

John Lort Stokes . ..vovvereresees Mate and Assistant Surveyor.
Benjamin Bynoe .............. Assistant Surgeon.

Arthur Mellersh .........cove... Midshipman.

Philip GidleyKing .............. Midshipman.

Alexander Burns Usborne ........ Master’s Assistant.

Charles MUSters. .. ....cvunvimnees Volunteer 1st Class.
JonathanMay .................. Carpenter.

Edward H. Hellyer . .....cccacvinns Clerk.

Acting boatswain: sergeant of marines and seven privates: thirty-
four seamen and six boys.
On the List of supernumeraries were:

CharlesDarwin ................ Naturalist.

AngustnsEarles coasadnsinnsk Draughtsman.

George James Stebbing .......... Instrument Maker.

Richard Matthews and three Fuegians: my own steward: and Mr
Darwin’s servant.

Our complement of seamen, marines, and boys was complete at our
return, and generally during the voyage; because, although many
changes happened, we had always a choice of volunteers to fill vacant
places.

Many of the crew had sailed with me in the previous voyage of the
Beagle; and there were a few officers, as well as some marines and sea-
men, who had served in the Beagle, or Adventure, during the whole of
the former voyage. These determined admirers of Tierra del Fuego
were Lieutenant Wickham, Mr Bynoe, Mr Stokes, Mr Mellersh, and
Mr King; the boatswain, carpenter, and sergeant; four private marines,
my coxswain, and some seamen,

I must not omit to mention that among our provisions were various
antiscorbutics — such as pickles, dried apples, and lemon juice — of the
best quality, and in as great abundance as we could stow away; we had
also on board a very large quantity of Kilner and Moorsom’s preserved
meat, vegetables, and soup: and from the Medical Department we
received an ample supply of antiseptics, and articles useful for preserv-
ing specimens of natural history.

Not only the heads of departments exerted themselves for the sake of
our health and safety, but the officers subordinate to them appeared to
take a personal interest in the Beagle; for which I and those with me
felt, and must always feel, most grateful.

Perhaps no vessel ever quitted her own country with a better or more
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ample supply (in proportion to her probable necessities) of every kind
of useful provision and stores than the little ship of whose wanderings I
am now about to give a brief and very imperfect narrative; and, thefe.-
fore, if she succeeded in effecting any of the objects of her mission, with
comparative ease and expedition, let the complete manner in which she
was prepared for her voyage, by the Dockyard at Devonport, be fully
remembered.

On 15 November I received my instructions from the Lords Com-
missioners of the Admiralty.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary :

21 November 1831 : About six o’clock, a marine, being drunk and whilst
crossing from the hulk to another vessel, slipped overboard and was not
seen again. His body has not been found.

22 November : Went on board and returned in a panic on the old subject,
want of room. Returned to the vessel with Cap. FitzRoy, who is such
an effectual and goodnatured contriver, that the very drawers enlarge on
his appearance and all difficulties smooth away.

23 November : This has been a very important day in the annals of the
Beagle; at one o’clock she was loosed from the moorings and sailed
about a mile to Barnett pool. Here she will remain till the day of
sailing arrives. This little sail was to me very interesting, everything so
new and different to what one has ever seen, the coxswain’s piping, the
manning the yards, the men working at the hawsers to the sound of a
fife; but nothing is so striking as the rapidity and decision of the orders
and the alertness with which they are obeyed. There rematns very little
to be done to make all ready for sailing. All the stores are completed and
yesterday between five and six thousand canisters of preserved meat
were stowed away. Not one inch of room is lost, the hold would contain
scarcely another bag of bread. My notions of the inside of a ship were
about as indefinite as those of some men on the inside of a man, viz. a
large cavity containing air, water and food mingled in hopeless con-
fusion.

24 November : A very fine day and an excellent one for obtaining sights.
Every body hailed the sun with joy, for until the time is well taken, we
cannot leave harbour, I went on board several times in the course of the
day; but did not succeed in doing any good, as they were changing the
place of anchorage and that 1s not the time for a Landsman to give
trouble about his own lumber.

25 November : Very busily employed on board in stowing away my
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clothes and after that in arranging the books, did not leave the vesse]
till it was dark.
26 November : Again employed all day long in arranging the books; we
(Stokes and myself) succeeded in leaving the Poop Cabin in very neat
order. After having finished this and bringing on board some things of
my own, King and I walked on the sea-shore. The day has been a very
fine one and the view of Plymouth was exceedingly striking. The
country is so indented with arms of the sea that there is a very new and
different scene from every point of view.
27 November : An1dle day, had a pleasant sail in Captain FitzRoy’s boat
and then called on several people.
Monday, 28 November : Cap. FitzRoy gave a very magnificent luncheon
to about forty persons: it was a sort of ship warming; and every thing
went off very well, in the evening a waltz was raised which lasted till
every body went away.
2 December : Worked all day long in arranging and packing my goods in
the drawers. Erasmus, my brother, arrived in the afternoon and I spent
with him a very pleasant evening.
3 December : Incessantly busy in ordering, paying for, packing all my
numberless things; how I long for Monday, even seasickness must be
better than this state of wearisome anxiety. Erasmus being here is a
great pleasure, but I do not see much of him.
4 December : 1 am writing this for the first time on board, it is now about
one o’clock and I intend sleeping in my hammock. I did so last night
and experienced a most ludicrous difficulty in getting into it; my great
fault of jockeyship was in trying to put my legs in first. The hammock
being suspended, I thus only succeeded in pushing [it] away without
making any progress in inserting my own body. The correct method 1s
to sit accurately in centre of bed, then give yourself a dexterous twist and
your head and feet come into their respective places. After a little time
I daresay I shall, like others, find it very comfortable. I have spent the
day partly on board and partly with my brother: in the evening, Cap.
King and son, Stokes, my brother and myself dined with Cap. FitzRoy.
In the morning the ship rolled a good deal, but I did not feel un-
comfortable; this gives me great hopes of escaping seasickness. I find
others trust in the same weak support. May we not be confounded. It is
very pleasant talking with officer on watch at night, every thing is so
quiet and still, nothing interrupts the silence but the half hour bells. I
will now go and wish Stewart (officer on duty) good-night and then for
practising my skill in vaulting into my hammock.

2. CROSSING THE ATLANTIC

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

In November 1831, the Beagle was ready for sea, but a succession of
hard gales from the westward prevented her leaving England until the
end of December. Twice she sailed, and went a few leagues; yet was
obliged to return in order to avoid the risk of being damaged, or losing
a boat, at the very beginning of her voyage. At last the westerly gales
seemed exhausted, a dead calm succeeded, and, warned by the appear-
ances so peculiar to easterly winds, we unmoored at daylight on the
27th, and, as soon as the tide would allow, for there was still no breeze,
we warped from our sheltered and picturesque retreat in Barn Pool,
under that beautiful place Mount Edgecumbe.

Of the bitter feelings experienced by most of us when every sail was
trimmed, and the land sinking fast from our view, I will say nothing:
yet there were enlivening hopes, and all were glad to be freed from the
tiresome uncertainty of the past month, all were anxious to enter upon
a voyage which, though likely to be very long, promised much that
would interest and excite, and perhaps reward.

To the executive officers of a ship it is always a most satisfactory
feeling, independent of other thoughts, to be fairly at sea, and away
from the scenes of irregularity which so often take place in ports. Those
scenes, however, are now much less offensive, and the sailor is far less
heedless than he was formerly, if we may take Fielding’s description as
authority. That humorous sensible author says, in one of the most
entertaining accounts of a voyage ever written, “T'o say the truth, from
what I observed in the behaviour of the sailors in this voyage, and
comparing it with what I have formerly seen of them, at sea, and on
shore, I am convinced that on land there is nothing more idle and dis-
solute; but, in their own element, there are no persons, near the level of
their degree, who live in the constant practice of half so many good
qualities.’

Individual misconduct, arising out of harbour irregularities, obliged
me to have recourse to harsh measures before we had been two days at
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sea; but every naval officer knows the absolute necessity of a certain
degree of what inexperienced persons might think unnecessary coercion,
when a ship is recently commissioned. Hating, abhorring corpora]
punishment, I am nevertheless fully aware that there are too many
coarse natures which cannot be restrained without it, (to the degree
required on board a ship,) not to have a thorough conviction that it
could only be dispensed with, by sacrificing a great deal of discipline
and consequent efficiency. ‘Certainty of punishment, without severity’
was a maxim of the humane and wise Beccaria; which, with our own
adage about a timely ‘stitch’; is extremely applicable to the conduct of

affairs on board a ship, where so much often depends upon immediate
decision, upon instant and implicit obedience.

Captain’s Log. H.M.S. Beagle. 28 December 1831 :

Punishment:

Disrate William Bruce: Able Seaman to Landsman for breaking his
leave, drunkenness and fighting.

Disrate Thos. Henderson: Bosun’s mate to Able Seaman for breaking
his leave and drunkenness.

Disrate Stephen Chamberlaine: Able Seaman to Landsman for breaking
his leave.

Disrate John Wasterham: Captain of Foretop to Able Seaman for
breaking leave.

Disrate James Lester: Cooper to Landsman for breaking leave.

John Bruce: 25 lashes for drunkenness, quarrelling and insolence.

David Russel: Carpenter’s crew with 34 lashes for breaking his leave
and disobedience of orders.

James Phipps: 44 lashes for breaking his leave, drunkenness and
insolence.

Elias Davis: 31 lashes for reported neglect of duty.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative :

Never, I believe, did a vessel leave England better provided, or fitted for
the service she was destined to perform, and for the health and comfort
of her crew, than the Beagle. If we did want any thing which could have
been carried, it was our own fault; for all that was asked for, from the
Dockyard, Victualling Department, Navy Board, or Admiralty, was
granted.

The wind increased, and drove us onwards into the Atlantic as fast
as a heavily laden small vessel, with her scuppers in the water, could
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be forced. We steered as southerly a course as was safe, in hopes of
keeping the east wind longer, and the result proved that we were right;
for although the Beagle had a fair wind all the way to the Canary Islands,
vessels which sailed from England only one day after her, and steered
more westerly, lost the east wind very soon, and were retarded by
another succession of strong and contrary gales, similar to those which
had detained us a whole month.

We crossed the Bay of Biscay without a gale; though the heavy
rolling of a vessel so deep in the water, running before a strong wind,
was almost as disagreeable as the effects of one would have been. After
witnessing high seas and storms in various parts of the world, I can call
to mind only two or three that exceeded what I have myself experienced,
or what I have heard described, as having been sometimes encountered
in this famed bay.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary :

29 December 1831 : At noon we were 380 miles from Plymouth, the
remaining distance to Madeira being 800 miles. We are in the Bay of
Biscay and there is a good deal of swell on the sea. I have felt a good
deal [of ] nausea several times in the day. There is one great difference
between my former seasickness and the present, absence of giddiness:
using my eyes is not unpleasant: indeed it is rather amusing whilst
lying in my hammock to watch the moon or stars performing their small
revolutions in their new apparent orbits. I will now give all the dear
bought experience I have gained about seasickness. In first place the
misery is excessive and far exceeds what a person would suppose who
had never been at sea more than a few days. I found the only relief to
be in a horizontal position: but that it must never be forgotten the more
you combat with the enemy the sooner will he yield. I found (in) the
only thing my stomach would bear was biscuit and raisins: but of this
as I became more exhausted I soon grew tired and then the sovereign
remedy is sago, with wine and spice and made very hot. But the only
sure thing is lying down and 1f in a hammock so much the better.

The evenings already are perceptibly longer and weather much
milder.
30 December : At noon Lat. 43 South of Cape Finisterre and across the
famous Bay of Biscay: wretchedly out of spirits and very sick. I often
said before starting, that I had no doubt I should frequently repent of
the whole undertaking, little did I think with what fervour I should do
so. I can scarcely conceive any more miserable state than when such
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dark and gloomy thoughts are haunting the mind as have today pursued
me. I staggered for a few minutes on deck and was much struck by the
appearance of the sea. The deep water differs as much from that near
shore as an inland lake does from a little pool. It is not only the darkness
of the blue, but the brilliancy of its tint when contrasted with the white
curling tip, that gives such a novel beauty to the scene. I have seen
paintings that give a faithful idea of it.

3I December : In the morning very uncomfortable; got up about noon
and enjoyed some few moments of comparative ease. A shoal of
porpoises dashing round the vessel and a stormy petrel skimming over
the waves were the first objects of interest I have seen. I spent a very
pleasant afternoon lying on the sofa, either talking to the captain or
reading Humboldt’s glowing accounts of tropical scenery. Nothing
could be better adapted for cheering the heart of a seasick man.

1 Fanuary 1832: The new year to my jaundiced senses bore a most
gloomy appearance. In the morning almost a calm, but a long swell on
the sea. In the evening it blew a stiff breeze against us. This and three
following days were ones of great and unceasing suffering.

Monday, 2 January: Heavy weather. I very nearly fainted from ex-
haustion.

Letter from Charles Darwin to Robert FitzRoy, 1846 :

I often think of your many acts of kindness to me, and not seldomest on
the time, no doubt quite forgotten by you, when, before making Madeira,
you came and arranged my hammock with your own hands and the
news of which as I afterwards heard brought tears into my father’s eyes.

From Captain Fitzroy’s Narrative:

Though so deep in the water, our little vessel’s movements were un-
commonly easy, and all our best timekeepers being hung in particularly
good jimbals, I had no fear of their rates being altered, except by the
effect of a change of temperature. This was a point about which I was
especially anxious, as so much would depend upon the going of our
chronometers, and I did not then think that the motions of a ship
affected those instruments so little: as I have since proved to be the case
by trying them frequently in boats, or small craft of only a few tons
burthen. In her previous voyage the Beagle was as easy a sea-boat as
could be desired; but, having raised her upper deck, altered her stowage
and trim, loaded her more heavily, and sheathed her with two-inch
plank, preparatory to this second expedition, I had abundant cause to
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feel anxious until the practical effects of such material changes were
ascertained. _

A little alteration was required near the compasses, for owing to
some ill-placed iron-work they did not quite agree; but, after this
change was made, we were gratified by finding four first-rate compasses,
three fixed for steering, and one for bearings, agree precisely. Another
source of satisfaction, connected with the compasses, was the knowledge
that they were not affected, unless in a very trifling degree, by local
attraction: for while lying in Barn Pool we swung the vessel in order to
ascertain its quantity, but were agreeably surprised to find that none
could be detected amounting even to one degree. This was attributed to
her having only brass guns; and to some very large iron davits for the
quarter boats, which were placed rather closely abaft and above the
compasses, and perhaps counteracted the effect of iron in the hold, which
was so much more distant.

On 3 January we were occupied in looking for the ‘Eight Stones’; but
nothing was seen to indicate either rocks, or shoals, or even shallow
water. The sun was shining brightly on a deep blue sea, of one uniform
colour: no soundings could be obtained; and had there been a shoal or
rock within seven miles of us at any hour of that day, it could not have
been passed unnoticed. So many vessels have searched, in vain, for this
alleged group of rocks, that their existence can now hardly be thought
possible.

At daylight, on the 4th, the rocky high islet of Porto Santo, Madeira,
was seen looming through haze and clouds which hung around it. We
steered between Porto Santo and the Desertas, intending to anchor in
Funchal Roads; but the wind drew round to south-west, with such
strong squalls, that I abandoned my intention, and at once steered for
Tenerife.

In fine weather, and it is fine at Madeira nine months in the year, the
view of this steep and lofty island, covered with bright verdure, and
enlivened by numerous scattered houses, as white as snow, is very
striking to a stranger who arrives from the low, and tame-looking shores
of the south coast of England.

While passing at a few leagues from the land, a violent squall came
from the west, which was near doing damage: after one puff there was
a short calm, with heavy rain, and then a sudden blast struck the ship
so violently that we were obliged to take in all sail and run before it
during the few minutes 1t lasted. This squall was one of very many
which have reminded me of the old doggrel lines:
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When rain comes before the wind,
Halyards, sheets, and braces mind :
But if wind comes before rain,

Set and trim your sails agam.

At daylight the next morning we saw the Salvages, and at sunset thought
we could distinguish the Peak of Tenerife.

Early on the 6th we saw part of the island, and soon afterwards the
upper clouds dispersed, and we enjoyed a magnificent view of the
monarch of the Atlantic: the snow-covered peak glittering in the rays of
the morning sun. Yet as our ideas are very dependent upon comparison,
I suppose that persons who have seen the Himalaya Mountains, or the
Andes, 1 all their grandeur, would not dwell much upon the view
of Tenerife, had it not become classical by its historical associations,
and by the descriptions of Humboldt and many distinguished
travellers.

About noon we approached the sun-burned, uninviting town of Santa
Cruz. Lying upon a level, arid space, at the foot of hills, that rise slowly
to a considerable height, so as to shut out the more elevated part of the
island; hardly a tree to be seen, and no appearance of cultivation;
guarded by a rocky shore, on which there is always a disagreeable -
often a dangerous surf; it offers indeed little to tempt delay. But not-
withstanding this unpromising exterior, and a port so exposed that
Spanish ships of war were ordered by their government to moor there
with four anchors, there is much to be found in the higher and interior
parts of Tenerife which amply repays the labour of ascending to and
exploring those regions. In one of the churches in Santa Cruz is still
hanging the remains of a flag, taken from the English, or left behind,
when Nelson lost his arm.

Our anchor had just touched the ground, when a boat from the
Health Office approached nearly alongside, conveying the British vice-
consul and some quarantine officers, who told us, after hearing whence
we came, that it would be impossible to grant permission for any person
to land; and that until we should have performed a strict quarantine of
twelve days’ duration, no personal communication could be expected.
This regulation was adopted on account of the reports which had
reached them respecting the cholera in England.

Observations on shore being indispensable for our purpose, and
finding, after some discussion, that there was no chance of attaining our
object in a manner that would at all compensate for the delay caused by
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anchoring and performing quarantine, we weighed without further loss
of time, and made sail for the Cape Verde Islands. _

This was a great disappointment to Mr Darwin, who had chens_hcd a
hope of visiting the Peak. To see it — to anchor and be on the point of
landing, yet be obliged to turn away without the slightﬂ_st prospect of
beholding Tenerife again — was indeed to him a real calamuty.

During the whole of the 7th, the Peak was visible; but on the follow-
ing day no land was in sight, and we made rapid progress. *

In again trying for soundings with three hundred f'athnms. ?f line,
near the Island of St Jago, we became fully convinced of the utility of a
reel, which Captain Beaufort had advised me to procure. 1'wo men were
able to take in the deep sea line, by this machine, without interfering
with any part of the deck, except the place near the stern, whe::r: the
reel was firmly secured. Throughout our voyage this simple contrivance
answered its object extremely well, and saved the crew a great deal of
harassing work.

15 January : In consequence of a thick haze, very Prﬂvalcnt al::iout
the Cape Verde Islands, land was not distinctly seen until we were with-
in three miles of it, and we then found ourselves rather too far westward,
owing to a current setting towards the west, at the rate of two knots an
hour; this was close to the north point of St Jago. Next day we anchored
in Port Praya.

If a general reader should honour these pages by his perusal, and
find such details about wood, water, fish, birds, etc., at places about
which few know, and still fewer care — extremely tiresome, he will of
course pass them over; but, in my own exculpation, I must beg to be
permitted to remind him that the Beagle was employed by Government,
to obtain practical information likely to be useful to shipping; and that
[ might neglect my duty by omitting to mention such matters, when
speaking of places which are seldom visited, and hitherto but slightly
known.

The vicinity of Port Praya offers little that is agreeable to the eye of
an ordinary visitor, though interesting enough to a geologist. A desolate
and hilly country, sunburned and stony, with but few trees even in the
valleys, and those only the withering, spectre-like trunks of old palms,
surrounds the harbour. The distant and higher parts of the island,
however, present a striking outline; and in the interior there is more to
be seen, as the following extract from a few notes made by Mr Rowlett,
the purser, will show.

‘We procured some indifferent horses and rode to Ribeira Grande,
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the remains of an old town, about nine miles west of Port Praya, which
was formerly the residence of the Portuguese governor of the Cape
Verde Islands; but in consequence of the anchorage becoming blocked
up, the seat of government was shifted to the small straggling town, or
rather village, which stands upon a height overlooking the port of Praya,
We passed through the fertile and beautiful valleys of Achao and San
Martin, and enjoyed drinking some of the finest water we had ever
tasted. On a commanding height stood the ruins of a very large fortress,
and within the limits of the old town were remains of a cathedral, a
bishop’s palace, and a college; besides a modern church, in tolerable
repair, an inhabited convent, and a hospital supported by charity. In the
convent we saw some good paintings from scriptural subjects; and there
were some curious old tombs, on one of which, said to be that of a
bishop, was the date 1571, and on another we thought the almost
obliterated figures were 1497.

‘No person who has only visited the port of Praya can form the
slightest idea of the beauty of the interior country; it exceeded any thing
I had seen, either in Brazil or in the West Indies.

‘Fruit was abundant; there were oranges, grapes, plantains, bananas,
sour-sops, mammee apples, pomegranates, guavas, quinces, sapodillas,
papaw apples, pines, citrons, medlars, figs, and occasionally apples.’

Notwithstanding its unfavourable exterior, its small and dirty town,
and its black or brown population, I am inclined to think Port Praya of
more consequence to shipping than 1s usually supposed. Water may be
procured by rafting the casks, placing a pump 1n the well, and hiring a
few of the natives to do the more laborious work of filling and rolling.
The local authorities are attentive and obliging: it is indeed their in-
terest to be so, because much of their trade, and even many of the
necessaries of life, depend upon the visits of shipping. Fowls, turkeys,
and pigs, are very plentiful, but it is better to procure them by barter
than with money. Clothes, new or old, are eagerly sought for, and their
full value may be obtained in the produce of the island.

The population is said to be about thirty thousand, a few of whom

are Portuguese by birth, and many are descended from Portuguese
parents, but the greater number are negroes.

I could hear no decided account of any earthquake having happened;

but being so near Fogo, now an active volcano, one may suppose that
St Jago is not exempted from an occasional shock.

The exports of the Cape Verde Islands are small quantities of sugar,
cotton, and coffee. Hides of small bullocks, sheep and goatskins, are
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likewise exported; and horses, mules, and asses, of an inferior descrip-
tion, are sometimes sent to the West Indies. The ji’m':hllla weed, so much
used in dyeing, is however the staple commodity, anc?, under proper
management, might be made highly profitable. At the ime of our visit,
the yearly revenue arising out of the government mnnnpn?l}; of this
article amounted to fifty thousand dollars; and in some years it has bf‘.ﬁn
. much as three hundred thousand dollars. This weed grows like a kind
of moss upon the cliffs, and is collected by men who climb up or are let
down by ropes, like the samphire gatherers. _ _
The natural dye is blue, approaching to purple; but by using metallic
and other solutions, it may be turned to purple, crimson, or scarlet.
Money having been slowly remitted of late years from the mother-
country, a great part of the archilla has been applied to the payment u:?f
the authorities, the clergy, and the troops (such as ﬂley*are). A story 1s
told of the last governor having caused a sham mutiny, in order that he
might have a good reason for selling the archilla gathered that year, and
with the produce paying the troops — and himself. He was brought out
with a rope round his neck into the street, and there obliged to promise
that he would sell the archilla, then in the government storehouse, to the
best bidder. _ r
A kind of castor oil plant is found, from which a small quantity of oil
is obtained, and a sort of soap. Yams are very scarce, bemg grown only
at one part of the island. Mandioca is common, but it degenf:rﬁates
rapidly, and will not produce even a second crop. Vegetables of various

kinds are abundant in their seasons.
In a valley near the town is a very remarkable tree, of the Baobab

kind, supposed to be more than a thousand years old; but I am not
aware of the grounds upon which this assertion is made.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary :

24 January 1832 : After our one o’clock dinner, Wickham, the _:.:aptahl
and myself walked to the famous Baobab tree and measured it more
accurately. Cap. FitzRoy first took an angle by a pocket sextant and
afterward climbed the tree and let down a string, both ways gave the
same result, viz. 45 feet in height. Its circumference measured 2 ff:t‘tt
from the ground (there being no projecting roots) gave 35- Its form 1s
oval, and its greatest visible diameter was 13 feet. So that in an accurate
drawing its height would be 3.4 of its breadth. Cap.kFlr.zERu}r maq:: a
sketch, which gave a good idea of its proportion, yet in this the height
was only about 2.4 of [its] breadth. Proving, what one so often observes,
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that a faithful delineation of nature does not give an accurate ides of it
We returned home, after our merry and pleasant walk, just as it was darlk'
A very pretty schooner came in this morning: it is strongly suspecteci
that she is a slaver in disguise; she says she is a general trader to th
coast of Africa. The captain means to overhaul her in the morning ans
make out what she is. I suppose every thing is well concealed. else sh
would not have come into a harbour where a pennant was ﬂﬁné. e

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

Wild guinea-fowls are found in flocks, and there are wild cats in the
unfrequented parts of the island; but if induced to take a gun in pursuit
of the guinea-fowls, I would advise a stranger not to overheat himself
or sleep on shore at night; for fatal fevers have been contracted b}:
Eumpeans_ who were unguarded as to their health while passing a few
days in this hot climate, after being for some time accustomed to the
cold weather of a high northern latitude.

Except during the rainy season, the wind is always north-easterly
and then _the sky 1s clear and the sun very powerful; but a dry haze hang;
over the 1sland in a peculiar manner, and a quantity of fine dust quite
an 1rnpa113:able powder, frequently settles on every exposed surface, even
on the sails and rigging of a vessel, when passing near the islands. ;

_ On 8 FEjhruary our instruments were re-embarked, and, after swing-
ing the ship to ascertain the amount of local attraction jwe weighed
anchor and sailed. B]tr the compass fixed upon a stanchion En front of the
Snnp, n-:‘:t twe;ztthy minutes difference of bearing could be detected, in
ny position of the vessel: the obj ' i i
vlimne i m;:fct observed being the highest point of

On the 10th we spoke the Lyra packet, going from England to Rio de
_]'anmrij, and received a box from her, containing six of Massey’s
sounding-leads, those excellent contrivances which we frequently found
so useful. These machines, as formerly made, did not answer for a much
gfel;:,;:e:l ilep;:lh than one hundred fathoms; because their hollow cylinder
yielded to the pressure of ' ' 1
rnpea t]121 px mnstmﬁfﬂ:?tcr. but Mr Massey has since remedied

On the 13th a very confused swell seemed to presage a change of
weather. Hitherto the wind had been steady from the north-east, and the
sky clear; })ut on this day large soft clouds, light variable breea’es rain
and sometimes a short calm, showed us that we had passed the lin;its n;'
th:z nnrth-t?ast trade wind. 14th: Similar weather, with a good deal of
rain, but still breeze enough to keep us moving on t;ur course.
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On the 15th, the wind was steady from east south-east, and the sky
free from heavy threatening clouds. We had then entered the south-east
trade wind, without having had two hours calm.

St Paul Rocks, or Pefiedo de San Pedro, were seen on the horizon at
sunset of the 15th. They appeared extremely small, being about eight
miles distant; and had we not been looking out for them, I doubt whether
they would have attracted attention. I never saw such mere rocks at so
great a distance from any land.

At daylight next morning, two boats were sent to land upon, and
examine them; while the Beagle sailed round this ‘sunk mountain top’,
sounding, and taking angles. Good observations were made during the
day, as the sky was clear, and the water smooth.

When our party had effected a landing through the surf, and had a
moment’s leisure to look about them, they were astonished at the
multitudes of birds which covered the rocks, and absolutely darkened
the sky. Mr Darwin afterwards said, that till then he had never believed
the stories of men knocking down birds with sticks; but there they might
be kicked, before they would move out of the way.

The first impulse of our invaders of this bird-covered rock, was to
lay about them like schoolboys; even the geological hammer at last
became a missile. ‘Lend me the hammer ?’ asked one. ‘No, no,’ replied
the owner, ‘you’ll break the handle;” but hardly had he said so,
when, overcome by the novelty of the scene, and the example of those
around him, away went the hammer, with all the force of his own right-
arm.

While our party were scrambling over the rock, a determined struggle
was going on in the water, between the boats’ crews and sharks. Num-
bers of fine fish, like the groupars of the Bermuda Islands, bit eagerly at
baited hooks put overboard by the men; but as soon as a fish was caught,

1 rush of voracious sharks was made at him, and notwithstanding blows
of oars and boat hooks, the ravenous monsters could not be deterred from
seizing and taking away more than half the fish that were hooked.

At short intervals the men beat the water with their oars all round
the boats, in order to drive away the sharks; and for a few minutes after-

wards the groupars swarmed about the baited hooks, and were caught as
fast as the lines could be hauled up — then another rush of sharks drove

them away — those just caught were snatched off the hooks; and again the
men were obliged to beat the water. When the boats returned they were
deeply laden with birds and fish, both welcome to those who had been

living on salt provisions.
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From the highest point of the rock, no discoloured water, nor any
breaking of the sea, could be discerned, apart from the place itself; and
from the soundings taken in the boats, as well as on board the ship, I
conclude that it is unconnected with any shoal, being merely the summit
of a steep-sided mountain rising from the bottom of the ocean.

Charles Darwin, in a letter home, 8 February 1831 :

I find to my great surprise that a ship is singularly comfortable for all
sorts of work. Everything is so close at hand, and being cramped makes
one so methodical, that in the end I have been a gainer.

I already have got to look on going to sea as a regular quiet place, like
going back to home after staying away from it. In short, I find a ship a
very comfortable house, with everything you want, and if it was not for
seasickness the whole world would be sailors. I do not think there is
much danger of Erasmus setting the example, but in case there should
be, he may rely upon it he does not know one tenth of the sufferings of
seasickness.

I like the officers much more than I did at first, especially Wickham,
and young King, and Stokes, and indeed all of them. The captain
continues steadily very kind and does everything in his power to assist
me. We see very little of each other when in harbour, our pursuits lead
us in such different tracks. — I never in my life met with a man who
could endure nearly so great a share of fatigue. He works incessantly,
and when apparently not employed, he is thinking. If he does not kill
himself, he will, during this voyage, do a wonderful quantity of work. 1
find I am very well, and stand the little heat we have had as yet, as well
as anybody. We shall soon have it in real earnest. We are now sailing for
Fernando Noronha, off the coast of Brazil, where we shall not stay very

long, and then examine the shoals between there and Rio, touching
perhaps at Bahia.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

At sunset that day we were out of sight of St Paul (or St Peter), and
soon after dark were hailed by the gruff voice of a pseudo-Neptune. A
few credulous novices ran upon the forecastle to see Neptune and his
car, and were received with the watery honours which it is customary t0
bestow, on such occasions.

Next morning we crossed the Equator, and the usual ceremonies
were performed.
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Deep was the bath, to wash away all ill;

Notched was the razor — of bitter taste the pill.

Maost ruffianly the barber looked — his comb was trebly nailed -
And water, dashed from every side, the neophyte assailed.

The disagreeable practice alluded to has been permitted in most ships,
because sanctioned by time; and though many condemn it as an absurd
and dangerous piece of folly, it has also many advocates. Perhaps it is
one of those amusements, of which the omission might be regretted. Its
effects on the minds of those engaged in preparing for its mummeries,
who enjoy it at the time, and talk of it long afterwards, cannot easily be
judged of without being an eyewitness.

Midshipman P. G. King, aged 14 at the time of the voyage, wrote about the
event in retrospect :

On approaching Neptune’s whereabouts as usually looked out for by
seamen, the ship’s company became up to any and every sort of devil-
ments, and the usual liberty to indulge in the ceremonial observances
was accorded: discipline for the moment being partially dispensed with.
Father Neptune must have his tribute and it was freely given him. The
story has been often told, but the effect produced on the young natural-
ist's mind was unmistakably remarkable. His first impression was that
the ship’s crew from the captain downwards had gone off their heads.
‘What fools these sailors make of themselves’, he said as he descended
the companion ladder to wait below till he was wanted.

The captain received his godship and Amphitrite, his wife, with
becoming solemnity ; Neptune was surrounded by a set of the most ultra-
demoniacal looking beings that could be well imagined, stripped to the
waist, their naked arms and legs bedaubed with every conceivable colour
which the ship’s stores could turn out, the orbits of their eyes exaggerated
with broad circles of red and yellow pigments. Those demons danced a
sort of nautical war dance exulting on the fate awaiting their victims
below.

Putting his head down the after companion the captain called out
‘Darwin, look up here!” Up came the young naturalist in wonderment
but yet prepared for any extravagance in the world that seamen could
produce. A gaze for a moment at the scene on deck was sufficient, he
was convinced he was amongst madmen, and, giving one yell, dis-
appeared again down the ladder. He was of course the first to be called
by the official secretary and Neptune received him with grace and
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courtesy observing that in deference to his high standing on board as
friend and messmate of the captain his person would be held sacred
from the ordinary rites observed in the locality. Of course Mr Darwin
readily entered into the fun and submitted to a few buckets of water
thrown over him and the captain as they sat together by one of the
youngsters as if by accident.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary:

17 February 1832 : We have crossed the equator, and I have undergone
the disagreeable operation of being shaved. About g o’clock this morn-
ing we poor ‘griffins’, two and thirty in number, were put altogether on
the lower deck. The hatchways were battened down, so we were in the
dark and very hot. Presently four of Neptune’s constables came to us,
and one by one led us up on deck. I was the first and escaped easily: I
nevertheless found this watery ordeal sufficiently disagreeable. Before
coming up, the constable blindfolded me and thus led along, buckets
of water were thundered all around; I was then placed on a plank,
which could be easily tilted up into a large bath of water. They then
lathered my face and mouth with pitch and paint, and scraped some of
it off with a piece of roughened iron hoop: a signal being given I was
tilted head over heels into the water, where two men received me and
ducked me. At last, glad enough, I escaped: most of the others were
treated much worse: dirty mixtures being put in their mouths and
rubbed on their faces. The whole ship was a shower bath, and water was

flying about in every direction: of course not one person, even the
captain, got clear of being wet through.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative

Before sunset on the 1gth we saw the island of Fernando Noronha, with
its singular peak towering aloft, and at midnight anchored in the road-
stead.

Next morning I landed with difficulty for observations, the surf being
so high that any common boat would have been swamped. By taking
great care, our broad and well-built whaleboats landed the instru-
ments and a small party, and re-embarked them afterwards, without
accident.

We landed in a small bay under the (so called) citadel, but there 18
a safer and in every way preferable landing-place about a mile to the
northward. My object being chiefly to take sights of the sun, for time,
and compare the chronometers used on shore as soon as possible with
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those on board, I preferred landing as near as I could to the place where
the lamented Captain Foster observed; but it was difficult to ascertain
the house in which his pendulum observations were made. Not even the
governor could tell me, for he had arrived since Captain Foster’s depar-
ture; and most of the inhabitants of the island had changed their dwell-
ings frequently, being all exiles from Brazil.

We obtained some fire-wood from one of the islets northward of the
principal island; but it was full of centipedes and other noxious insects,
from which it was not easy to free it even by charring and washing.
Water we did not try to get, because of the heavy surf, but there is no
scarcity of it on the island. Neither live-stock nor vegetables could be
procured from the apathetic inhabitants.

This place is rather picturesque; and the lofty barren peak, already
mentioned, is conspicuous from every point of view. Near the summit
is a station from which a look-out is kept, not only over all the island,
but over many leagues of the surrounding sea; so that neither ship nor
boat can approach or depart, during daylight, without being noticed.

No boats are allowed to be kept on the island, and no intercourse is
held with shipping without permission and the strictest inspection.

We sailed from Fernando Noronha the same evening, passed round
the north-east extremity of the island, and steered for Bahia de Todos
Santos. Having remained only one day at anchor, in consequence of
information that no better landing could be expected for many days;
and wishing to ascertain the rates of the chronometers, as well as to
procure a supply of water, I decided to go to Bahia, as the nearest port
convenient for both purposes. At daylight on the 28th we made the land
about Bahia, and before noon were at anchor in the port.

As we sailed in rapidly from the monotonous sea, and passed close
along the steep but luxuriantly wooded north shore, we were much struck
by the pleasing view. After the lighthouse was passed, those by whom
the scene was unexpected were agreeably surprised by a mass of wood,
clinging to a steep bank, which rose abruptly from the dark blue sea,
showing every tint of green, enlivened by bright sunshine, and con-
trasted by deep shadow: and the general charm was heightened by
turretted churches and convents, whose white walls appeared above the
waving palm trees; by numerous shipping at anchor or under sail; by
the delicate airy sails of innumerable canoes; and by the city i.tSﬂlf, rising
like an amphitheatre from the waterside to the crest of the heights.

We found ourselves in the middle of the rainy season, and althuug.h
favoured by a fine day at arriving, cloudy weather and frequent rain
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succeeded it, and during the short stay we made, much embarrassed oy
observations. :

From Charles Darwin’s Diary:

28 February 1832 : About g o’clock we were near to the coast of Brazi]-
we saw a considerable extent of it, the whole line is rather low ané
irregular, and from the profusion of wood and verdure of a bright green
colour. About 11 o'clock we entered the bay of All Saints, on the
northern side of which is situated the town of Bahia or San Salvador, It
would be difficult [to] imagine, before seeing the view, an}'thing. S0
magnificent. It requires, however, the reality of nature to make it so, If
faithfully represented in a picture, a feeling of distrust would be raised
%n the mind, as I think 1s the case in some of Martens’ views. The town
15 fairly embosomed in a luxuriant wood and situated on a steep bank
ﬂve.rlﬂnks the calm waters of the great bay of All Saints. The houses are
whlte_and lofty and from the windows being narrow and long have a
very light and elegant appearance. Convents, porticos and public build-
ings vary the uniformity of the houses: the bay is scattered over with
large ghips; in short the view is one of the finest in the Brazils. But these
beauties are as nothing compared to the vegetation; I believe from what
[ have seen Humboldt’s glorious descriptions are and will for ever be
unparalle!f:d: but even he with his dark blue skies and the rare union of
poetry with science which he so strongly displays when writing on
trnpm‘al scenery, with all this falls far short of the truth. The delight one
experiences in such times bewilders the mind; if the eye attempts to
fuiluw. thu:: flight of a gaudy butterfly, it is arrested by some strange tree
or fru_lt; if watching an insect one forgets it in the stranger flower it is
crawling over; if turning to admire the splendour of the scenery, the
individual character of the foreground fixes the attention. The mind is a
cl?aﬂs of delight, out of which a world of future and more quiet pleasure
':mll arise. I am at present fit only to read Humboldt; he like another sun
illumines everything I behold.

29 February : 'The day has passed delightfully: delight is however a weak
term for _sych transports of pleasure: I have been wandering by myself
in a Braﬁz:han forest: amongst the multitude it is hard to say what set of
objects is most striking; the general luxuriance of the vegetation bearsthe
victory, the elegance of the grasses, the novelty of the parasitical plants,
the beauty of the flowers, the glossy green of the foliage, all tend to this
end. A most paradoxical mixture of sound and silence pervades the
shady parts of the wood: the noise from the insects is so loud that in the
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evening it can be heard even in a vessel anchored several hundred yards
from the shore: yet within the recesses of the forest a universal stillness
appears to reign. To a person fond of natural history such a day as this
brings with it pleasure more acute than he ever may again experience.
After wandering about for some hours, I returned to the landing place.
Before reaching it I was overtaken by a tropical storm. I tried to find
shelter under a tree so thick that it would never have been penetrated
by common English rain, yet here in a couple of minutes, a little torrent
flowed down the trunk. It is to this violence we must attribute the
verdure in the bottom of the wood: if the showers were like those of
2 colder clime, the moisture would be absorbed or evaporated before
reaching the ground.

1 March : 1 can only add raptures to the former raptures. I walked with
the two mids a few miles into the interior. The country is composed of
small hills and each new valley is more beautiful than the last. I collected
a great number of brilliantly coloured flowers, enough to make a florist
go wild. Brazilian scenery is nothing more nor less than a view in the
Arabian Nights, with the advantage of reality. The air is deliciously cool
and soft; full of enjoyment one fervently desires to live in retirement in
this new and grander world.

¢4 March : This day is the first of the carnival; but Wickham, Sulivan
and myself nothing undaunted were determined to face its dangers.
These dangers consist in being unmercifully pelted by wax balls full of
water and being wet through by large tin squirts. We found it very
difficult to maintain our dignity whilst walking through the streets.
Charles V has said that he was a brave man who could snuff a candle
with his fingers without flinching; I say it is he who can walk at a steady
pace, when buckets of water on each side are ready to be dashed over
him. After an hour’s walking the gauntlet, we at length reached the
country and there we were well determined to remain till it was dark.
We did so, and had some difficulty in finding the road back again, as we
took care to coast along the outside of the town. To complete our
ludicrous miseries a heavy shower wet us to the skins; and at last gladly
we reached the Beagle. It was the first time Wickham had been on shore,
and he vowed if he was here for six months it should be [the] only one.

§ March: King and myself started at 9 o’clock for a long naturalizing
walk. Some of the valleys were even more beautiful than any I have yet
seen. There is a wild luxuriance in these spots that is quite enchanting.
One of the great superiorities that tropical scenery has over European is
the wildness even of the cultivated ground. Coconuts, bananas, plantain,
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oranges, papaws arc mingled as lf b}' Nﬂtﬂﬂ.‘:, and hEtWE‘EH them are
patches of the herbaceous plants such as indian corn, yams and cassady
and in this class of views, the knowledge that all conduces to the.
subsistence of mankind, adds much to the pleasure of beholding them,
We returned to the ship about half after 5 o’clock and during these
eight hours we scarcely rested one. The sky was cloudless and the day
very hot, yet we did not suffer much. It appears to me that the heat
merely brings on indolence, and if there 1s any motive sufficient to
overcome this it is very easy to undergo a good deal of fatigue. During
the walk I was chiefly employed in collecting numberless small beetles
and in geologizing. King shot some pretty birds and I a most beautiful
large lizard. It is a new and pleasant thing for me to be conscious that
naturaliz_ing 1s doing my duty, and that if I neglected that duty I should
at same time neglect what has for some years given me so much pleasure.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

Bahia has declined ever since its separation from Portugal: unsettled,
weak governments, occupied too constantly by party strife to be able to
attend to the real improvement of their country, have successively mis-
ruled it. Revolutions, and risings of the negro population, interrupting
trade, have repeatedly harassed that rich and beautiful country, and are
still impending.

R}’ ere property secure, and industry encouraged, the trade from
Bahia might be very extensive, particularly in sugar and cotton: but
who will embark much capital upon so insecure a foundation as is there
offered

The immense extent and increase of the slave population is an evil
long foreseen and now severely felt. Humanely as the Brazilians in
general treat their slaves, no one can suppose that any benevolence will
eradicate feelings excited by the situation of those human beings. Hither-
to the ubst_acles to combinations and general revolt among the negroes,
have I:)Iﬂen 1ignorance, mutual distrust, and the fact of their being natives
of various countries, speaking different languages, and in many cases
hostile to each other, to a degree that hardly their hatred of white men
can cause them to conquer, even for their immediate advantage.

Could the Brazilians see clearly their own position, unanimously con-
demn and prevent the selfish conduct of individuals, emancipate the
slaves now in their country, and decidedly prevent the introduction of
more, If.’srazil would commence a career of prosperity, and her population
would increase in an unlimited degree. In that immense and most fertile
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country, distress cannot be caused by numerous inhabitants; food is
abundant, and the slight clothing required in so warm a climate 1s

easily procured.

From Charles Darmin’s Diary :

12 March 1832 : We have had some festivities on board; the day before
yesterday there was a grand dinner on the quarter deck. Cap. Paget has
paid us numberless visits and is always very amusing: he has mentioned
in the presence of those who would if they could have contradicted him,
facts about slavery so revolting, that if I had read them in England, I
should have placed them to the credulous zeal of well meaning people.
The extent to which the trade is carried on; the ferocity with which it
is defended; the respectable (!) people who are concerned in it are far
from being exaggerated at home. I have no doubt the actual state of by
far the greater part of the slave population is far happier than one would
be previously inclined to believe. Interest and any good feelings the
proprietor may possess would tend to this. But it is utterly false (as
Cap. Paget satisfactorily proved) that any, even the very best treated, do
not wish to return to their countries. ‘If I could but see my father and
two sisters once again, I should be happy. I never can forget them.” Such
was the expression of one of these people, who are ranked by the
polished savages in England as hardly their brethren, even in God’s
eyes. From instances I have seen of people so blindly and obstinately
prejudiced, who in other points I would credit, on this one I shall never
again scruple utterly to disbelieve. As far as my testimony goes, every
individual who has the glory of having exerted himself on the subject of
slavery, may rely on it his labours are exerted against miseries perhaps
even greater than he imagines.

From Charles Darwin’s Autobiography :

FitzRoy’s character was a singular one, with many very noble features;
he was devoted to his duty, generous to a fault, bold, determined and
indomitably energetic, and an ardent friend to all under his sway. He
would undertake any sort of trouble to assist those whom he thought
deserved assistance. He was a handsome man, strikingly like a gentle-
man with highly courteous manners, which resembled those of his
maternal uncle, the famous Ld Castlereagh, as I was told by the minister
at Rio. Nevertheless he must have inherited much in his appearance
from Charles II, for Dr Wallich gave me a collection of photographs
which he had made and I was struck by the resemblance of one to
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FitzRoy; on looking at the name I found it Ch. E. Sobieski Stuart,
Count d’Albanie and illegitimate descendant of the same monarch
FitzRoy’s temper was a most unfortunate one, and was shown not only
by passion, but by fits of long-continued moroseness against those who
had offended him. His temper was usually worst in the early morning,
and with his eagle eye he could generally detect something amiss aboyt
the ship, and was then unsparing in his blame. The junior officers when
they relieved each other in the forenoon used to ask ‘whether much hot
coffee had been served out this morning ?* which meant how was the
captain’s temper? He was also somewhat suspicious and occasionally
in very low spirits, on one occasion bordering on insanity. He seemed
to me often to fail in sound judgment and common sense. He was very
kind to me, but was a man very difficult to live with on the intimate
terms which necessarily followed from our messing by ourselves in the
same cabin. We had several quarrels, for when out of temper he was
utterly unreasonable. For instance, early in the voyage at Bahia in Brazil
he defended and praised the slavery which I abominated, and told me
that he had just visited a great slave owner, who had called up many of
his slaves and asked them whether they were happy, and whether they
wished to be free, and all answered no. I then asked him perhaps with
a sneer, whether he thought that the answer of slaves in the presence of
their master was worth anything. This made him excessively angry, and
he said that as I doubted his word we could not live any longer together.
I thought that I should have been compelled to leave the ship; but as
soon as the news spread which it did quickly, as the captain sent for the
first lieutenant to assuage his anger by abusing me, I was deeply gratified
by receiving an invitation from all the gun-room officers to mess with
them. But after a few hours FitzRoy showed his usual magnanimity by
sending an officer to me with an apology and a request that I would
continue to live with him. I remember another instance of his conduct.
At Plymouth, before we sailed he was extremely angry with a dealer in
crockery who refused to exchange some articles purchased in his shop:
the captain asked the man the price of a very expensive set of china and
said ‘I should have purchased this if you had not been so disobliging’.
As I knew that the cabin was amply stocked with crockery, I doubted
whether he had any such intention; and I must have shown my doubts
in my face, for I said not a word. After leaving the shop, he looked at me,
saying ‘You do not believe what I have said’, and I was forced to own
that it was so. He was silent for a few minutes, and then said ‘you are
right, and I acted wrongly in my anger at the blackguard’.
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From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

Well-known authors have already said so much of Bahia, its spacious
harbour, and delightful environs, that it would be impertinent in the
writer of a mere narrative to add his hasty remarks to the calmly con-
sidered information which their works contain. But I will venture to
notice that however pleased a stranger to Bahia may be at the sensations
conveyed through his eyes, previous to landing, he will be miserably
disappointed when he finds himself in the dirty, narrow, cruwda:d, and
hot ‘lower towns’; and that the sooner he gets into a sedan chair, and
desires the almost naked bearers to make the best of their way to the
‘upper town’, where he will enjoy fresh air, a pleasing view, anc! freedom
from annoyances, the less his organs will be offended, and his temper
tried.

We sailed from Bahia on 18 March. The bank which projects from
the light-house point had been minutely examined by us, during the
Beagle’s stay in port; on one day, indeed, she went out and anchnred‘at
the outer end of the shoal, in order to determine its extent, and assist
the boats in sounding; therefore I did not hesitate to stand across it; l:'mt
there is not water enough over the shallower parts for any ship drawing
more than fourteen feet, especially if there is a swell. The shnalr;:st_ spot
is near the outer end; ships of any size may pass between the mner
extremity and the point of land adjacent to it.

After losing sight of the land, our course was shaped tn‘the snufh-
east, towards the eastern limit of the great bank of soundings which
extends so far to seaward of the Abrolhos islets. Having reached the
parallel of the islands, and being to the easnvarfl of the easternmost
soundings laid down in any chart, without finding any ground w_lth
three hundred fathoms of line, I began to steer westward — snundu}g
continually, and keeping a sharp look-out at the ma_st—head. At two in
the afternoon of the 26th, we had no bottom, with three hundred
fathoms of line; and at the next cast, about an hour afterwards, .fnund
only thirty fathoms, without there being the slightest_ clzang‘e in the
colour of the water, or in its temperature, or any ther 1_11d1caunn of so
sudden a change in the depth. We hauled to the wind directly, worked
to the eastward in order to ascertain the precise limit of the bank, and
lost soundings as suddenly as we had previously struck thenil. A grapnel
was then put overboard, with two hundred fathoms of line, and we
again steered westward, till a heavy pull upon the line, and a sudden
jerk, showed that we had hooked the bank.



6o The Voyage of HM.S. Beagle

——

The ship was hove-to, and the necessary observations made on the
spot. The grapnel, when hauled up, was found to be straightened, 4
proof, in addition to that afforded by the lead, that the bottom was rocky,

I had imagined, from what I had heard, that the rock of which these
islets were chiefly composed was coral; but was surprised to find only
coralline growing upon gneiss or sandstone.

We anchored near the islets, at dusk, on the 28th, after being in
frequent anxiety, owing to sudden changes in the depth of water: and
next morning, moved to a better berth at the west side, very near them,
They are rather low, but covered with grass, and there is a little
scattered brushwood. The highest point rises to about a hundred feet
above the sea. Their geological formation, Mr Darwin told me, is of
gneiss and sandstone, in horizontal strata. When our boats landed,
immense flights of birds rose simultaneously, and darkened the air. It
was the breeding and moulting season; nests full of eggs, or young
unfledged birds, absolutely covered the ground, and in a very short time
our boats were laden with their contents.

A large black bird, with a pouch like that of a pelican, but of a bright
red colour, was very remarkable, as it hovered, or darted among the
bright verdure, and at a distance looked handsome; but when seen
close, it at once descended to the level of a carrion-eating cormorant or
buzzard.

Turtle are to be found at times: we observed the shell and skeleton of
an extremely large one lying on a sandy spot at the north side of the
northern islet. Some very fine fish, of the cod kind, were caught; one
was so large, that, until hauled on board, it was supposed to be a shark.
The anchorage is good, and easy of access: all swell is stopped by the
shallow places, and by the islets themselves. There is no fresh water.

30 March: We sailed and sounded in various directions, but such
irregular depths I never found elsewhere. Sudden jumps, from thirty
to ten, sometimes even to four fathoms, in successive casts of the hand-
lead, gave us frequent alarm; but by keeping a boat ahead, and two
leads going briskly, we avoided danger, and giving up exploring, re-
gained before dark the safe channel which runs north and south
between the Abrolhos and the main land, and steered to pass near Cape
San Tomé, or St Thomas. Next day we were off that cape, but saw none
of the breakers which have been so frequently reported to lie at a
dangerous distance from the neighbouring shore; although we looked

out for them, and steered so as to pass the places where I was informed
they would be seen,
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From Charles Darwin’s Diary :

r April: All hands employed in making April fools. At midnight nearly
a1l the watch below was called up in their shirts; carpenters for a leak:
quarter-masters, that a mast was sprung: midshipmen, to reef top-sals.
All turned in to their hammocks again, some growling, some laughing.
The hook was much too easily baited, for me not to be caught: Sulivan
cried out: ‘Darwin, did you ever see a grampus: bear a hand then’. I
accordingly rushed out in a transport of enthusiasm, and was received
by a roar of laughter from the whole watch. |
2 April: A rainy, squally morning, very unusual at this time of year in
these latitudes; being now about 130 miles east of Rio. A large flock of
Mother Cary’s chickens are hovering about the stern in same manner as
swallows do on a calm summer evening over a lake. A flying fish fell on
the deck this morning; it struck the mast high up, near the main }rarq:
sticking to the fish was a crab, the pain of which caused perhaps this
unusual degree of action.

3 April : This morning Cape Frio was in sight: itisa memorable spot to
many in the Beagle, as being the scene of the disgraceful wreck of the
Thetis. All day we ran along the coast and in the evening drew near to
the harbour of Rio. The whole line is irregularly mountainous, an_d
interspersed with hills of singular forms. The opening of .thﬂ port is
recognized by one of these, the well-known Sugaﬂo?f. As it wu?ld be
impossible to get a good anchorage or enjoy the view so late in the
evening, the captain has put the ship’s head to the wind and we shall, to
my great joy, cruise about for the night. We have seen great quantities
of shipping; and what is quite as interesting, porpoises, sl*_mrks and
turtles; altogether, it has been the most idle day I have spent since I left
England. Everybody is full of anxiety about letters and newspapers.

Tomorrow morning our fates will be decided.
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From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

On 4 April when the sea-breeze set in, we steered for Rio harbour. The
sun shone brightly, and there were enough passing clouds to throw
frequent shadows over the wooded heights and across vallies, where, at
other times, the brightest tints of varied green were conspicuous: yet I
did not think the place half so beautiful as formerly. The charm of
novelty being gone, and having anticipated too much, were perhaps the
causes; and it is possible that so much wood has been cleared away in
late years, as to have diminished sensibly the rich and picturesque
appearance which it certainly once possessed.

Charles Darwin, in a letter home :

We shall in all probability stay more than a month at Rio. I have some
thoughts, if I can find tolerably cheap lodgings, of living in a beautiful
village about four miles from this town. It would be excellent for my
collections, and for knowing the tropics. Moreover I shall escape caulk-
ing and painting, and various other bedevilments which Wickham 18
planning. One part of my life as sailor (and I am becoming one, 1.e.
knowing ropes and how to put the ship about etc.) is unexpectedly
pleasant: it is liking the bare living on blue water: I am the only person
on the ship who wishes for long passages: but of course I cautiously
bargain with Aeolus, when I pray to him that with the winds he may
keep the sea equally quiet. Coming out of Bahia my stomach was only
just able to save its credit. I will finish this letter full of I, I, 1, when at
Rio.

Rio de Janeiro. § April: We lay to during last night, as the captain
was determined we should see the harbour of Rio, and be ourselves
seen, in broad daylight. The view is magnificent and will improve O
acquaintance: it is at present rather too much to behold mountains as
rugged as those of Wales, clothed in an evergreen vegetation, and the
tops ornamented by the light form of the palm. The city, gaudy with
it's towers and cathedrals, is situated at the base of these hills, and
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commands a vast bay, studded with men of war, the flags of which
bespeak every nation. We came, in first-rate style, alongside the
admiral’s ship, and we, to their astonishment, took in every inch of
canvas, and then immediately set it again. A sounding ship doing such
a perfect manceuvre with such certainty and rapidity 1s an event hitherto
unknown in that class. It is a great satisfaction to know that we are
in such beautiful order and discipline. In the midst of our tactics, the
bundle of letters arrived. — ‘Send them below’, thundered Wickham,
‘Every fool is looking at them and neglecting his duty.’

From Midshipman P.G. King’s account :

Though Mr Darwin knew little of nautical matters he one day volun-
teered his services to First Lieutenant Wickham. The occasion was when
the ship first entered Rio Janeiro. It was decided to make 2 display of
smartness in shortening sail before the numerous men-of-war at the
anchorage under the flags of all nations. The ship entered the harbour
under every yard of canvas which would be spread upon her yards
including studding sails aloft on both sides, the lively sea breeze which
brought her in being right aft. Mr Darwin was told to hold to a main
royal sheet in each hand and a top mast studding tack in his teeth. At
the order ‘Shorten Sail’ he was to let go and clap onto any rope he saw
was short-handed, this he did and enjoyed the fun of it, afterwards
remarking ‘the feat could not have been performed without me’.

From Captain Fitzroy’s Narrative:

As we shortened sail under the stern of our flag-ship, I was surprised by
finding Sir Thomas Baker, the commander-in-chief, giving directions
for the positions to be taken forthwith by the ships of his squadron then
present, and orders for the boats to be prepared for landing marines.
This was in consequence of one of those disturbances almost usual in
South America, especially in Brazil. Some outrages had been committed
in the town, and a mutiny had broken out among the troops. Under old
and established governments, revolt and mutiny are events which so
seldom oceur that their shock is not only felt at the time, but transmits
vibrations through succeeding ages. In these unsettled states, however,
they recur so frequently, that even on the spot they cause little sensa-
tion, and excepting by those personally concerned, are scarcely re-
membered afterwards.

Few strangers visit the metropolis of Brazil without being dis-
appointed, if not disgusted. Numbers of almost naked negroes,
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hastening along narrow streets — offensive sights and smells, an uncjyj]
and ill-looking native population — indispose one to be pleased, even with
novelty; but impressions such as these soon wear off. In the envirgng
of the city are many good houses, in beautiful situations; and while
enjoying delightful rides amidst the richest and most varied scenery, or
resting in the shade of a veranda, refreshed by the sea-breeze, angd
overlooking a prospect hardly to be surpassed in the world, the annoy-
ances and the nuisances of the town are forgotten.

Having so many good chronometers on board; being practised in
observations such as they require; and placing great confidence in their
results; I felt inclined to give attention and time to them rather than to
perplex myself, and cause much delay, by attempting series of observa-
tions which would give occupation to an astronomer, and could not be
undertaken by me, while actively engaged in coast-survey, without
interfering with other duties.

As T found that a difference, exceeding four miles of longitude,
existed between the meridian distance from Bahia to Rio, determined
by the French expedition under Baron Roussin, and that measured by
the Beagle; yet was unable to detect any mistake or oversight on my
part; I resolved to return to Bahia, and ascertain whether the Beagle’s
measurement was incorrect. Such a step was not warranted by my
instructions; but I trusted to the Hydrographer for appreciating my
motives, and explaining them to the Lords of the Admiralty. In a letter
to Captain Beaufort, I said, ‘I have not the least doubt of our measure-
ment from Bahia; but do not think that any other person would rely on
this one measure only, differing widely, as it does, from that of a high
authority — the Baron Roussin. By repeating it, if it should be verified,
more weight will be given to other measures made by the same instru-
ments and observers.

We sailed with the ebb-tide and sea-breeze, cleared the port before
the land-wind rose, and when it sprung up steered along the coast
towards Cape Frio. Most persons prefer sailing from Rio early in the
morning, with the land-wind; but to any well-manned vessel, there is
no difficulty whatever in working out of the port during a fresh sea-
breeze, unless the flood-tide should be running in strongly.

On this passage one of our seamen died of a fever, contracted when
absent from the Beagle with several of her officers, on an excursion to
the interior part of the extensive harbour of Rio de Janeiro. One of the
ship’s boys, who was in the same party, lay dangerously ill, and young
Musters seemed destined to be another victim to this deadly fever.




VIEWS OF MONTE VIDEO HARBOUR

South America 65

It was while the interior of the Beagle was being painted, and no duty
going on except at the little observatory on Villegagnon Island, that
those officers who could be spared made this excursion to various parts
of Rio harbour. Among other places they were in the River Macaci, and
passed a night there. No effect was visible at the time; the party re-
turned in apparent health, and in high spirits; but two days had not
elapsed when the seaman, named Morgan, complained of headache and
fever.

The boy Jones and Mr Musters were taken ill, soon afterwards, in a
similar manner; but no serious consequences were then apprehended,
and it was thought that a change of air would restore them to health.
Vain idea! they gradually became worse; the boy died the day after our
arrival in Bahia; and, on 19 May, my poor little friend Charles Musters,
who had been entrusted by his father to my care, and was a favourite
with every one, ended his short career.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary:

¢ June : 1 also found King, who had arrived late the evening before in
the Beagle. He brought the calamitous news of the death of three of our
ship-mates. They were the three of the Macact party who were ill with
fever, when the Beagle sailed from Rio. First, Morgan, an extraordinary
powerful man and excellent seaman; he was a very brave man and had
performed some curious feats; he put a whole party of Portuguese to
flight, who had molested the party; he pitched an armed sentinel into
the sea at St Jago; and formerly he was one of the boarders in that most
gallant action against the slaver, the Black Joke. Second, Boy Jones, one
of the most promising boys in the ship and had been promised but the
day before his illness, promotion. These were the only two of the
sailors who were with the cutter, and picked for their excellence. And
lastly, poor little Musters; who three days before his illness heard of his
mother’s death. Morgan was taken ill four days after arriving on board
and died near the Abrolhos, where he was lowered into the sea after
divisions on Sunday — for several days he was violently delirious and
talked about the party. Boy Jones died two days after arriving at Bahia,
and Musters two days after that. They were both for a long time in-
sensible or nearly so. They were both buried in the English burial
ground at Bahia; where in the lonely spot are also two other midship-
men. The other five of the party were all slightly attacked; none of them
for more than a day or two. Macacti has been latterly especially notorious
for fevers: how mysterious and how terrible is their power. It is
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remarkable that in almost every case, the fever appears to come on severy]
days after returning into the pure atmosphere. I could quote numbers of
such cases: is it the sudden change of life, the better and more stimy-
lating food, which determines the period ?

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

The danger appears to be incurred while sleeping; or when over-heated;
not while awake and moderately cool; therefore we may infer that 3
check to the perspiration which takes place at those times is to be
guarded against, rather than the breathing of any peculiar gas, or air,
rising from the rivers or hanging over the land, which might have as
much effect upon a person awake, as upon a sleeper. Also, to prevent
being chilled by night damp, and cold, as well as to purify the air, if
vapour or gas should indeed be the cause of fever, it 1s advisable to keep
a large fire burning while the sun is below the horizon.

Mr Bynoe, the surgeon, consulted with the best medical advisers at
Bahia, and afterwards at Rio de Janeiro,and he and I had the melancholy
satisfaction of knowing that the best had been done for his patients.

My chief object in now mentioning these melancholy facts is to warn
the few who are not more experienced than I was at that time, how very
dangerous the vicinity of rivers may be in hot climates. Upon making
more Inquiry respecting those streams which run into the great basin
of Rio de Janeiro, I found that the Macacli was notorious among the
natives as being often the site of pestilential malaria, fatal even to them-
selves. How the rest of our party escaped, I know not; for they were
eleven or twelve in number, and occupied a day and night in the river.
When they left the ship it was not intended that they should go up any
river; the object of their excursion being to visit some of the beautiful
islets which stud the harbour. None of us were aware, however, that
there was so dangerous a place as the fatal Macact within reach. 1
questioned every one of the party, especially the second lieutenant and
master, as to what the three who perished had done different from the
rest; and discovered that it was believed they had bathed during the
heat of the day, against positive orders, and unseen by their companions;
and that Morgan had slept in the open air, outside the tent, the night
they passed on the bank of Macact.

As far as I am aware, the risk, in cases such as these, is chiefly
encountered by sleeping on shore, exposed to the air on or near the
low banks of rivers, in woody or marshy places subject to great solar
heat. Those who sleep in boats, or under tents, suffer less than persons
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sleeping on shore and exposed; but they are not always exempt, as the
murderous mortalities on the coast of Africa prove. Whether the cause
of disease is a vapour, or gas, formed at night in such situations, or only
a check to perspiration when the body is peculiarly affected by the heat
of the climate, are questions not easy to answer, if I may judge from the
difficulty I have found in obtaining any satisfactory information on the
subject.

Charles Darwin, in a letter home :

Botofogo Bay, 25 April 1832
. And now for the Captain, as I daresay you feel some interest in
him. As far as I can judge, he is a very extraordinary person. I never
before came across a man whom I could fancy being a Napoleon or a
Nelson. I should not call him clever, yet I feel convinced nothing is too
great or too high for him. His ascendancy over everybody is quite
curious; the extent to which every officer and man feels the slightest
rebuke or praise would have been before seeing him incomprehensible.
It is very amusing to see all hands hauling at a rope, they not supposing
him on deck, and then observe the effect when he utters a syllable; it is
like a string of dray-horses, when the waggoner gives one of his awful
smacks. His candour and sincerity are to me unparalleled; and using his
own words his ‘vanity and petulance’ are nearly so. I have felt the effects
of the latter . . . but the bringing into play of the former ones so
forcibly makes one hardly regret them. His great fault as a companion
is his austere silence produced from excessive thinking. His many good
qualities are numerous: altogether he is the strongest marked character
I ever fell in with.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

In our passage from Rio de Janeiro to Bahia, we passed between the
Abrolhos Islands and the main land, having a fresh southerly wind, and
cloudy weather, with frequent rain. Of course there was some anxiety
until we saw the islands, and it was necessary to keep the lead constantly
going; but we got into no difficulty, and, assisted by Massey’s log, as
well as Massey’s lead, we made a short passage, without an hour’s delay
or scant wind. This was favourable for the chronometer measurement,
and T was deeply gratified by finding, soon after our arrival, that the
measure from Rio to Bahia confirmed that previously made, even to a

second of time. _
On 23 May, we sailed the second time from Bahia, and steered to
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pass as near as possible to the eastern side of the Abrolhos; but, owing
to unfavourable winds, could not approach nearer to them than ip
fourteen fathoms water.

When examining many of the cases of preserved meat, prepared by
Kilner and Moorsom, with which the Admiralty had ordered us to be
provided, we found that several had burst and caused a most disagree-
able smell. This was not the fault of the tin cases, but an unavoidable
accident consequent upon their being stowed where salt water had
occasional access, and corroded the tin. In so small and so crammed a
hold as ours, it was not easy to make stowage for every thing that ought
to be kept dry, particularly with a hatch-deck, while rolling about in the
Bay of Biscay; but being warned by this first appearance of decay, our
internal arrangement was partly changed, and some of the hatches on
the lower deck temporarily caulked down.

Captain’s Log. H.M.S. Beagle. 25 May 1832:

Found decay in preserved meats, cans burst, 381b meat condemned and
thrown overboard.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

Delayed by southerly winds and a long heavy swell from the southward,
we made rather a tedious passage back to Rio, and did not anchor until
the night of 3 June.

Next day (4th) the usual sets of equal altitudes were observed; and
after the chronometer rates were ascertained, I had the satisfaction of
finding that this third meridian distance agreed exactly with the first and
second. Upon further examination, it was seen that the Abrolhos Islands
were laid down correctly in the French chart, with respect to Bahia; but
that the meridian distance between those islands and Rio de Janeiro
differed more than four miles from that resulting from three measures
made by our twenty chronometers.

While watering, and rating the chronometers, a few comparatively
leisure days afforded a seasonable opportunity for trying the qualities of
boats, and exciting fair emulation among their crews. With the Com-
mander-in-chief’s permission, and the encouragement of the ofhicers of
his squadron, then in the port, some good boat-races were arranged;
and knowing how much might afterwards depend upon the qualities of
the Beagle’s boats, it was very gratifying to find them excellent. Four
of the set were built by Mr Johns, the well-known boat-builder in Ply-
mouth dockyard, and the other two by Mr May, our carpenter. Captain
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Talbot, of the Warspite, and Captain Waldegrave, of the Seringapatam,
tried their best boats and best men on two successive days, to the
encouragement of the boats’ crews and boat-sailers of the squadron, and

much to the surprise of the Brazilians, who had never witnessed any
thing like a regatta.

Charles Darwin, in a letter home, 1 March 1832 :

We have beat all the ships in manceuvring, so much so that the com-
manding officer says we need not follow his example, because we do
everything better than his great ship. I begin to take great interest in
naval points, more especially now, as I find they all say we are the No. 1
in South America. I suppose the captain is a most excellent officer. It
was quite glorious to-day how we beat the Samarang in furling sails. It
is quite a new thing for a ‘sounding ship’ to beat a regular man-of-war,
and yet the Beagle is not at all a particular ship; Erasmus will clearly
perceive it when he hears that in the night I have actually sat down in
the sacred precincts of the quarterdeck.

From the Captain’s Orders, H.M.S. Beagle:

27 The ship’s company are always to be allowed three quarters of an
hour for breakfast, one hour and a half for dinner and three quarters
of an hour for supper when in harbour. At sea — half an hour for
breakfast, one hour for dinner and half an hour for supper are to be
allowed.

28 The watch below are not to be disturbed without @bsolute necessity
or the order of the commanding officer.

29 When boats or men are away from the vessel, or employed on duty
at meal times, the officer of the watch will send to the cook to keep
their allowance hot if they have not their provisions with them.

30 The ship’s company lights are to be put out at half past eight at sea
and nine in harbour.

31 Jackets, round hats, of any kind or caps may be worn when the
officers please, excepting only when mustered by a senior officer or
sent on duty to a man-of-war.

Frock coats being as inconvenient as cocked hats in small vessels,
I wish the junior officers who go aloft and have active duty to attend
to on deck, or sent away in boats, to avoid the use of them as much
as possible.

32 As T am confident that the officers of this sloop do not require the
restraints of etiquette and ceremony to remind them of the respect
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due to His Majesty’s Service and those engaged in it, I wish it to be
known that when not engaged on duty there is no objection to their
reading, sitting or smoking on any part of the Beagle’s upper deck
excepting the quarterdeck. Neither is there any objection on my part
to their wearing any dress that please them when off ‘duty’. Attention
to duty of course must never be relaxed but while duty is properly
done I shall always be anxious to increase as much as possible the
few comforts that a small vessel can possess.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

On 5 July we sailed from Rio de Janeiro, honoured by a salute, not of
euns, but of hearty cheers from H.M.S. Warspite. Strict etiquette might
have been offended at such a compliment to a little ten-gun brig, or,
indeed, to any vessel unless she were going out to meet an enemy, or
were returning into port victorious: but although not about to encounter
a foe, our lonely vessel was going to undertake a task laborious, and
often dangerous, to the zealous execution of which the encouragement
of our brother-seamen was no trifling inducement.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary:

5 July : A little after g o’clock we tripped our anchor, and with a gentle
breeze stood out of the bay. Captains Talbot and Harding accompanied
us beyond Santa Cruz. As we sailed past the Warspite and Samarang
(our old Bahia friend) they manned the rigging and gave us a true sailor
like farewell, with three cheers. The band at same time striking up ‘To
glory you steer’. The captain had intended touching at Cape Frio, but
as the lightning did so, we made a direct course for the south. Near to
the Isla de Raza the wind lulled, and we are now becalmed and shall
probably remain so during the night. The moon is now shining brightly
on the glassy water; everyone is in high spirits at again being at sea and
a little more wind is all that is wanted. The still and quiet regularity of
the ship is delightful; at no time is ‘the busy hum of men’ so strongly
perceived as when leaving it for the open ocean.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

While in harbour, a few alterations had been made in the disposition of
our guns and stores, as well as some slight changes in the sails and
rigging; and as the Beagle’s equipment afterwards remained unaltered, I
will here briefly describe it. She was rigged as a bark; her masts Were
strongly supported by squarer cross-trees and tops, and by larger rig-
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ging than usual in vessels of her tonnage, 242 tons. Chains were used
where found to answer, and in no place was a block or a sheave allowed
which did not admit the proper rope or chain freely. There were large
trysails between the masts, made of stout canvas, with several reefs, and
very useful we found them. On the forecastle was a six-pound boat-
carronade: before the chestree were two brass six-pound guns: close to
the bulwark on each side of the waist were the ‘booms’; and amidships
two boats, on the diagonal principle, one stowed inside the other, and as
close to the deck as possible; being secured by iron cranks, or supports.
Abaft the main-mast were four brass guns, two nine-pound, and two
six-pound: the skylights were large; there was no capstan; over the
wheel the poop-deck projected, and under it were cabins, extremely
small, certainly, though filled in inverse proportion to their size. Below
the upper deck her accommodations were similar to, though rather
better than those of vessels of her class. Over the quarter-deck, upon
skids, two whale-boats, eight-and-twenty feet long, were carried; upon
each quarter was a whale-boat twenty-five fect in length, and astern was
a dinghy.

A few leagues southward of the port is a good situation for enjoying
a general view of the picturesque mountains in its vicinity. When near
the shore one only sees those of an inferior order; and it is not until an
offing is gained that the bold and varied outlines of the distant Organ
Mountains, the sharp peak of the Corcovado, and the singular heights
over Tijuca, can be seen.

After a tiresome continuance of south-west winds, I became anxious
to make Santa Catarina, but before we could reach it the wind changed,
and enabled us to steer along the coast towards the south.

While sailing along the level uninteresting coast, with a fresh breeze
off the land, we found it bitterly cold, though the thermometer never
was below 40°. Faht: so much does our perception of heat or cold
depend upon comparison. Some of our exaggerated opinions as to the
coldness of the southern hemisphere may have arisen from the circum-
stances under which voyagers usually visit high southern latitudes,
immediately after enduring the heat of the tropics, and without staying
long enough to ascertain the real average temperature during a whole
year.

On 22 July we were near the River Plata, and as the weather, after
sunset, became very dark, with thunder and lightning, though with but
little wind, we anchored in the vicinity of Cape St» Maria to avoid being
drifted about by irregular currents. For upwards of an hour St Elmo
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fires were seen at each mast-head, and at some of the yard-arms: the
mast-head vane also, fixed horizontally, and framed with copper, hag
an illuminated border round it. Those who have not seen this light
always a favourite with sailors, because they say it only appears Wher;
the worst part of the storm is over, may excuse my saying that it
resembles the light of a piece of phosphorus — not being so bright, or so
small, as that of a glow-worm, nor yet so large as the flame of a small
candle. T was curious enough to go out to a yard-arm and put my hand
on a luminous spot; but, of course, could feel nothing, and when I
moved my hand the spot reappeared.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary:

22 July 1832: 1 have just been on deck; the night presents a most
extraordinary spectacle; the darkness of the sky is interrupted by the
most vivid lightning. The tops of our masts and higher yard ends shone
with the electric fluid playing about them; the form of the vane might
almost be traced as if it had been rubbed with phosphorus. To com-
plete these natural fireworks, the sea was so highly luminous that the
penguins might be tracked by the stream of light in their wake. As the

night looked dirty and there were heavy squalls of rain and wind, we
have dropped our anchor.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

Heavy rain, much thunder, and a fresh southerly wind followed; but as
we were prepared for bad weather, and the sea did not rise much, we
maintained our position till daylight next morning, notwithstanding an
officer of the watch startling me by reporting that we must be very near
the land, because he heard bullocks bellowing. These noises must have
been the discordant ‘braying’ of the bird called by seamen ‘jack-ass
penguin’.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary:

The night was dirty and squally: we were surrounded by penguins and
seals which made such odd noises that in the middle watch Mr Chaffers

went below to report to Mr Wickham that he heard cattle lowing on
shore.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

On the 23rd we entered the great estuary of this shallow though wide
river, a hundred and twenty miles across at this part, yet averaging less
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than ten fathoms in depth; and above fifty miles wide between Monte
Video and the opposite point, called Piedras, where the average depth is
not more than three fathoms. Very great care is required by vessels
navigating the Plata, because of its exceedingly dangerous shoals, its
strong and irregular currents, and the sudden tempests to which it 1S
subject. The shoals and currents may be guarded against by a very
careful attention to the lead, and a ground-log; but the fury of a violent
pampero must be endured. The land on each side of the Plata is so low,
and those extraordinary plains called pampas, hundreds of miles in ex-
tent, are so perfectly free from a single obstacle which might offer any
check to the storm, that a pampero sweeps over land and water with the
weight of a rushing hurricane.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary:

26 July 1832 : We entered the bay about g o’clock. Just as we were
coming to an anchor, signals were made from the Druid, a frigate lying
here; which (to our utter astonishment and amusement) ordered us to
‘Clear for action’ and shortly after ‘Prepare to cover our boats’. We set
sail and the latter part of order was shortly explained by the arriving of
six boats heavily armed with carronades and containing about forty
marines, all ready for fighting, and more than 100 blue jackets. Captain
Hamilton came on board and informed us that the present government
is a military usurpation; and that the head of the party had seized upon
400 horses, the property of a British subject; and that in short the
flotilla of boats went to give weight to his arguments. The revolutions in
these countries are quite laughable; some few years ago in Buenos Aires,
they had fourteen revolutions in twelve months; things go as quietly as
possible; both parties dislike the sight of blood; and so that the one
which appears the strongest gains the day. The disturbances do not
much affect the inhabitants of the town, for both parties find it best to
protect private property. The present governor has about 260 gaucho
cavalry and about the same number of negro infantry; the opposite
party is now collecting a force and the moment he enters the town the
others will scamper out. Mr Parry (a leading merchant here) says he is
quite certain 150 men from the frigate could any night take Monte
Video. The dispute has terminated by a promise of restitution of the
horses; but which I do not think is very clear will be kept. I am afraid
it is not impossible that the consequences will be very unpleasant to us.
The Druid’s officers have not for some weeks been allowed to go on
shore, and perhaps we shall be obliged to act in the same manner. How
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annoying will be the sight of green turf plains, whilst we are performing
a sort of quarantine on board.

From Captain FitzRoy's Narrative:

Unfavourable winds, and currents setting out of the river, delayed our
progress, and obliged us to anchor frequently. As I found that it would
be advisable to visit Buenos Aires, in order to communicate with the
government, and obtain information, we sailed from Monte Video
on the 31st, and two days afterwards anchored off Buenos Aires,
There, however, we did not remain an hour; for the misconduct of a
Buenos Airean officer on board a vessel under their colours, and a vexati-
ous regulation with respect to quarantine, decided my returning forth-
with to Monte Video; and commissioning a capable person to procure
for me copies of some original charts, which I thought would be exceed-
ingly useful, and which could only be obtained from the remains of
hydrographical information, collected by Spain, but kept in the archives
of Buenos Aires. The Beagle anchored again off Monte Video, on 3
August, and as soon as the circumstances which occasioned her return
were made known to Captain G. W. Hamilton, commanding the Druid
frigate, that ship sailed for Buenos Aires.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary:

2 August 1832 : We certainly are a most unquiet ship; peace flies before
our steps. On entering the outer roadstead, we passed a Buenos Aires
guard-ship. When abreast of her she fired an empty gun; we not under-
standing this sailed on, and in a few minutes another discharge was
accompanied by the whistling of a shot over our rigging. Before she
could get another gun ready we had passed her range. When we arrived
at our anchorage, which is more than three miles distant from the land-
ing place, two boats were lowered, and a large party started in order t0
stay some days in the city. Wickham went with us, and intended
immediately going to Mr Fox, the English minister, to inform him of the
insult offered to the British flag. When close to the shore, we were met
by a quarantine boat, which said we must all return on board, to have
our bill of health inspected, from fears of the cholera. Nothing which we
could say about being a man-of-war - having left England seven months,
and lying in an open roadstead — had any effect. They said we ought to
have waited for a boat from the guard-ship and that we must pull the
whole distance back to the vessel, with the wind dead on end against Us
and a strong tide running in. During our absence, a boat had come with
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an officer, whom the captain soon despatched with a message to his
commander to say ‘He was sorry he was not aware he was entering an
uncivilized port, or he would have had his broadside ready for answer-
ing his shot’. When our boats and the health one came alongside, the
captain immediately gave orders to get under weigh and return to Monte
Video. At the same time, sending to the governor, through the Spanish
officer, the same messages which he had sent to the guard-ship, adding
that the case should be thoroughly investigated in other quarters. We
then loaded and pointed all the guns on one broadside, and ran down
close along the guard-ship. Hailed her, and said, that when we again
entered the port, we would be prepared as at present and if she dared
to fire a shot we would send our whole broadside into her rotten hulk.
We are now sailing quietly down the river. From M Video the captain
intends writing to Mr Fox and to the admiral; so that they may take

effective steps to prevent our flag being again insulted in so unprovoked
a manner.

Report to Hydrographer from Commander FitzRoy, 16 August 1832 :

. With reference to the expressions which have offended the Buenos
Airean Government, I beg to inform you, and I request that you will
make it known, if necessary, that I did #ot say, that °1 should go to some
other country where the government was more civilized’, but, that my
expression to the health officer @as, ‘Say to your government that I shall
return to a more civilized country where boats are sent more frequently
than balls.’

In hailing the guard vessel I did #o? in any way allude to the govern-
ment and my words to her commander were ‘If you dare to fire another
shot at a British man-of-war you may expect to have your hulk sunk,
and if you fire at #his vessel, I will return a broadside for every shot!’

From Captain FitzRoy's Narrative:

Scarcely had the Druid disappeared beneath the horizon, when the chief
of the Monte Video police and the captain of the port came on board the
Beagle to request assistance in preserving order in the town, and in
preventing the aggressions of some mutinous negro soldiers. I was also
requested by the consul-general to afford the British residents any
protection in my power; and understanding that their lives, as well as
property, were endangered by the turbulent mutineers, who were more
than a match for the few well-disposed soldiers left in the town, I
landed with fifty well-armed men, and remained on shore, garrisoning
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the principal fort, and thus holding the mutineers in check, until more
troops were brought in from the neighbouring country, by whom the

were surrounded and reduced to subordination. The Beagle’s crew weri
not on shore more than twenty-four hours, and were not called upon to act
in any way; but I was told by the principal persons whose lives and

property were threatened, that the presence of those seamen certainly
prevented bloodshed.

From Charles Darmin’s Diary:

5 August 1832: This has been an eventful day in the history of the
Beagle. At 10 0’clock in the morning the minister for the present military
government came on board and begged for assistance against a serious
insurrection of some black troops. Captain FitzRoy immediately went
ashore to ascertain whether it was a party affair, or that the inhabitants
were really in danger of having their houses ransacked. The head of the
police (Dumas) has continued in power through both governments, and
is considered as entirely neutral; being applied to, he gave it as his
opinion that it would be doing a service to the state to land our force.
Whilst this was going on ashore, the Americans landed their boats and
occupied the custom house. Immediately the captain arrived at the mole,
he made us the signal to hoist out and man our boats. In a very few
minutes, the yawl, cutter, whaleboat and gig were ready with ffty-two
men heavily armed with muskets, cutlasses and pistols. After waiting
some time on the pier Signor Dumas arrived and we marched to a central
fort, the seat of government. During this time the insurgents had planted
artillery to command some of the streets, but otherwise remained quiet.
They had previously broken open the prison and armed the prisoners.
The chief cause of apprehension was owing to their being in possession
of the citadel, which contains all the ammunition. It is suspected that all
this disturbance is owing to the manceuvring of the former constitutional
government. But the politics of the place are quite unintelligible: it has
always been said that the interest of the soldiers and the present govern-
ment are identical; and now it would seem to be the reverse. Captain
FitzRoy would have nothing to do with all this: he would only remain
to see that private property was not attacked. If the national band were
nﬂt.rank cowards, they might at once seize the citadel and finish the
business; instead of this, they prefer protecting themselves in the
fortress of St Lucia. Whilst the different parties were trying to negotiate
matters, we remained at our station and amused ourselves by cooking
beefsteaks in the courtyard. At sunset the boats were sent on board and
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one returned with warm clothing for the men to bivouac during the
night. As I had a bad headache, I also came and remained on board.
The few left in the ship, under the command of Mr Chaffers, have been
the most busily engaged of the whole crew. They have triced up the
boarding netting, loaded and pointed the guns and cleared for action.
We are now at night in a high state of preparation so as to make the best
defence possible, if the Beagle should beattacked. Toobtain ammunition
could be the only possible motive.

6 August 1832 The boats have returned. Affairs in the city now more
decidedly show a party spirit, and as the black troops are enclosed in the
citadel by double the number of armed citizens, Capt. FitzRoy deemed
-+ advisable to withdraw his force. It is probable in a very short time the
rwo adverse sides will come to an encounter; under such circumstances,
Capt. FitzRoy being in possession of the central fort, would have found
it very difficult to have preserved his character of neutrality. There
certainly is a great deal of pleasure in the excitement of this sort of work;
quite sufficient to explain the reckless gaiety with which sailors under-
take even the most hazardous attacks. Yet as time flies, it 1s an evil to
waste so much in empty parade.

Report to Captain Hamilton, H.M.S. Druid, from Commander FitzRoy :
14 August 1832

SIR,

I am anxious to lose no time in laying before you a statement of occur-

rences which yesterday occasioned the presence of the British flag in the

central fort of Monte Video, and its return on board this day.

Yesterday at nine in the morning Sefior Muhos, and the captain of
the port came on board His Majesty’s Sloop Beagle, and requested
assistance in preserving order in the town and in preventing aggressions
which were anticipated from the mutinous negro troops.

I immediately went on shore, alone, and there received a letter from
the British consul-general requesting to see me to consider what protec-
tion I could afford to the property of individuals, said, by him, to be in
danger. After seeing the consul, I sought and obtained the opinions of
many respectable individuals, and, n particular that of the chief of
police, Sefior Luis Lamas.

In consequence of their united opinions and requests, I returned to
the Beagle and directly afterwards re-landed with fifty armed men. After
waiting about half an hour upon the mole, Sefior Lamas arrived; and
having dismounted and left his escort, he walked with me and the
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Beagle’s crew to the central fort (that in which are the government
offices). A public notice was then issued.

In the fort, I remained until it was ascertained that the mutinoyg
black troops, in number about two hundred and fifty, were within the
citadel and surrounded by so strong an armed force, in number nearly
five hundred, that there could be no doubt of the impossibility of the
property of individuals being in danger or of the tranquility of the town
being seriously disturbed by those few blacks.

Seeing no sufficient cause for our retaining the fort any longer, or for
our remaining on shore, I informed the British consul, also Sefior Peréz,
and Sefior Luis Lamas of my intention to re~embark.

At eleven this morning the whole party who had landed from the
Beagle returned on board. A notice was printed at my direction and is
now in circulation. Since writing the above various party quarrels have
taken place in the town and until the 12th the shops were shut and the
inhabitants obliged to keep within their houses.

On the 12th the president Don Fructuoso Rivera arrived and the
constitutional government proclaimed.

This day, the 14th, the president has made his formal entry into the
town and his government appears to be re-established.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary :

15 August 1832: The Druid has returned from Buenos Aires and
brought from its government a long apology for the insult offered to us.
The captain of the guard-ship was immediately arrested and it was left

to the British consul’s choice whether he should any longer retain his
COmMMmISS1oN.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

Some days after this little interruption to our usual avocations, We
sailed across the river to Point Piedras, anchored there for some hours to
determine its position, then went to Cape San Antonio, and from that
cape began our survey of the outer coast. To relate many details of
so slow and monotonous an occupation as examining any shore, of
which the more interesting features have long been known, could answer
no good purpose, and would be very tiresome to a general reader; there-
fore I shall hasten from one place to another, dwelling only, in my way,
upon the few incidents, or reflections, which may have interest enough
to warrant their being noticed in this abridged narrative, or are abso-
lutely necessary for carrying on the thread of the story.
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Charles Darwin, in a letter home, 14 July 1832 :

Everyone has put on cloth clothes, and preparing for still greater ex-
tremes, our beards are all sprouting. My face at present looks of about
the same tint as a half-washed chimney sweeper. With my pistols in my
belt and geological hammer in hand, shall I not look like a grand bar-
barian ? I do not think I have ever given you an account of how the day
passes. We breakfast at eight o’clock. The invariable maxim is to throw
away all politeness: that is, never to wait for each other, and bolt off the
minute one has done eating, etc. At sea, when the weather is calm, I
work at marine animals, with which the whole ocean abounds; if there
is any sea up, I am either sick or contrive to read some VOyage or
travels. At one we dine. You shore-going people are lamentably mis-
taken about the manner of living on board. We have never yet (nor shall
we) dined off salt meat. Rice and pea and calavanses* are excellent
vegetables, and with good bread, who could want more? No one could
be more temperate, as nothing but water comes on the table. At five we
have tea. The midshipmen’s berth have all their meals an hour before
us, and the gun-room an hour afterwards.

From Captain FitzRoy's Narrative:

22 August 1832: From Cape San Antonio to rather more than half-way
towards Cape Corrientes, the sea-coast is sandy and low. Behind the
beach are sand-hills, and farther inshore are thickets affording shelter
to numbers of jaguars. In sailing along, even with both leads going, we
were, for a few minutes, in imminent danger of grounding upon a bank,
or ledge, which extends six miles ESE, from Point Medanos. The water
shoaled so suddenly, and so irregularly, that I could not tell which way to
steer: and as we had been running directly before the wind, it was
impossible to retreat by the safest track (that which we had made in
approaching): however, by persevering in pushing eastward, away from
the land, steering one way orf another as the water deepened, we at last
got clear. We then stood out to gain an offing, rounded the bank, and
hauled close inshore again nearly opposite to a large salt lagoon, {_;alle-:l
Mar Chiquita, which approaches the sea so closely as to havF occasioned
an idea that, by cutting through the narrow strip of land which separates
them, a fine port might be formed.

In the vicinity of Mar Chiquita, the country is very fertile, and well
watered. Sheltered to the south by a range of down-like hills, whence

* A sort of pulse.
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numerous small brooks originate, it gives abundant pasturage to mg
thousands of cattle, and is considered by the Buenos Aireans to be tIl;l
finest district of their territory. :

On a round-topped hill, near Mar Chiquita, we saw an immense herg
of cattle, collected together in one dark-coloured mass, which covered
many acres of ground. A few men, on horseback, were watching them
who, seeing us anchor, drove the whole multitude away at a gallop an:i
ina few minutes not one was left behind. Probably they suspected ug'ef
marauding inclinations.

Cape Corrientes is a bold, cliffy promontory, off which, notwith-
standing the name, I could not distinguish any remarkable current, It is
said to be hazardous for a boat to go along-shore, near the high cliffs of
that cape, because there are rocks under water which sometimes cause
sudden and extremely dangerous ‘blind breakers’. More than one boat’s
crew has been lost there, in pursuit of seals, which are numerous among
the rocks and caves at the foot of those cliffs. Hence to Bahia Blanca is
a long and dreary line of coast, without an opening fit to receive the
smallest sailing vessel, without a remarkable feature, and without a river
whose mouth is not fordable. Even the plan of it, on paper, has such a
regular figure, that an eye accustomed to charts may doubt its accuracy;
so rarely does the outline of an exposed sea-coast extend so far without a
break. A heavy swell always sets upon it; there is no safe anchorage near
the Ehﬂl'f:‘,; and, as if to complete its uninviting qualities, in the interior,
but verging on this shore, is a desert tract, avoided even by the Indians,
and called, in their language, Huecuvu-mapu (country of the Devil). In
exploring this exposed coast, southerly winds sometimes obliged us to
struggle for an offing; and we lost several anchors in consequence of
letting them go upon ground which we thought was hard sand Iying
over clay, but which turned out to be tosca,* slightly covered with
sand, and full of holes. The lead indicated a sandy, though hard
bottom; but we found it every where so perforated and so tough, that,
drop an anchor where we might, it was sure to hook a rock-like lump
ui: tosca, which sometimes was torn away, but at others broke the anchor.
Finding this to be the case, I had a stout hawser bent to the crown of the

anchor, and after shortening in cable, tripped the anchor by the hawser,
and then weighed it, uninjured, without much difficulty.

| fﬂimng this extent of sea-coast, half way between the currents in the

vicinity of the Plata, and those occasioned by strong tides near Blanco

Bay and the River Negro, we found no current. Whether there was 4
* Soft dark brown limestone.
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rise of tide it was not easy to ascertain by the lead-line, when at anchor,
from the bottom being so uneven;and to land was impossible, on account
of a furious surf.

Several kinds of fish were caught at our temporary anchorages, and
noticed carefully by Mr Darwin. Anchorage is not a word I should use
in this case (where the anchor was only let go for a short time while the
ship’s position could be fixed with accuracy, and our triangulation car-
ried on in a satisfactory manner), as it might deceive a stranger to the
coast: stopping-place would be better.

While examining the positions nearest to Blanco Bay, we had
occasional alarms — such as the wind shifting and blowing strong
directly towards the land; our soundings shoaling suddenly to three, or
less than three fathoms; or thick weather coming on while a boat was
away sounding — but these are everyday events in a surveying vessel
actively employed.

Near Blanco Bay we found the water greatly discoloured, and the
soundings were not such as to tempt us onwards; however, it was
necessary to proceed, We steered towards a little hill, which I fancied
must be Mount Hermoso, and soon after sunset, on the 5th, anchored
in what we afterwards found to be the roadstead near that hillock, at the
head of Blanco Bay, close to the entrance of Port Belgrano, but divided
from it by a bank.

As the bad apologies for charts of this place, which we possessed at
our first visit, left us as much at a loss as if we had none, I set out with
the boats next morning to seek for a passage into Port Belgrano.

Our boats were soon stopped by shoal water, and 1 found, to my
vexation, that the Beagle was anchored at the head of an inlet, between
the shore and a large bank extending far towards the south-east, and
that before going farther west she must retreat eastward, and look for
another passage. This was an unexpected dilemma; but our prospect
was improved by the appearance of a small schooner running towards
us, from Port Belgrano, with a Buenos Airean (or Argentine) flag
flying.

Very soon she came near enough for our boat to reach her, and an
Englishman came on board, who offered to pilot the Beagle to a safe
anchorage within the port. This was Mr Harris, owner of the little
schooner in which he sailed (a resident at Del Carmen, on the River
Negro, and trading thence along the coast), with whom we had much
satisfactory intercourse during the next twelvemonth.

By his advice we weighed anchor, stood across the great north bank,
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in very little more water than we drew, until we got into a chanpe|
where there was water enough for any ship, and a soft muddy bottom:
there we hauled up west-north-west, by his direction, and with a frﬁ};
wind sailed rapidly into the extensive and excellent, though then little
known harbour, called Port Belgrano; and at dusk anchored near the
wells under Anchorstock Hill.

So constantly did Mr Harris give this course, on subsequent occa-
sions, that it became quite a joke; but 1t 18 nevertheless a strong cor-
roboration of the uniformity of the general direction of the inlets
ridges, and ranges of hills. ’

To give an idea of the general appearance, or almost disappearance
of the very low land around this spacious port, I will mention, tha;
when the Beagle had crossed the north bank, and hauled up in the fair
way, Mount Hermoso was nearly beneath the horizon; some bushes on
the flat land southward of us could be just distinguished; and ahead in
the north-west quarter, no land could be made out, except the distant
Ventana mountain, which we saw for the first time on that day.

In consequence of this extent of water being intersected by banks,
and having so few marks, it is very difficult of access; and no place can
offer less that is agreeable to the eye, especially when the tide is out, and
much of the banks shows above water. A more disagreeable place to
survey, or one that would occupy more time, we were not likely to find,
I thought, as I looked around from the mast-head ; but upon questioning
Mr Harris, I learned that a succession of similar inlets indented a half-
drowned coast, extending hence almost to the Negro; and that,
although the dangers were numerous, tides strong, banks muddy, and
the shores every where low, the intervening ports were so safe, and so
likely to be useful, that it was absolutely necessary to examine them.

7 September : Messrs Darwin, Rowlett, and Harris set out with me
to visit the Buenos Airean settlement, called Argentina. Mr Harris
undertook to be our guide, but after two hours’ sailing and pulling we
found ourselves near the head of a creek, between two soft mud banks,
where we could neither row nor turn the boat. We could not land
because the mud was too soft to bear our weight, so there we stayed till
the tide flowed. About two hours after this stoppage there was water
EH[{th for us to cross a large bank, and gain the right channel, from
which we had deviated, and then, with a flowing tide, we made rapid
progress, until the ‘Guardia’ was announced to us. This was a small hut
near the water side, but to reach it we had to wind along a tortuous
canal, between banks of soft mud: and when we arrived at the landing-
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place seven hours had been passed among rushy mud banks, surrounded
by which we were often prevented from seeing any solid land. The
water was every where salt, the tide running strongly, and the boat often
aground.

Waiting to meet us was an assemblage of grotesque figures, which I
shall not easily forget — a painter would have been charmed with them.
A dark visaged quixotic character, partly in uniform, mounted on a
large lean horse, and attended by several wild looking, but gaily
dressed gauchos, was nearest to Us. Behind him, a little on one side,
were a few irregular soldiers, variously armed, and no two dressed
alike, but well mounted, and desperate-looking fellows; while on the
other side, a group of almost naked Indian prisoners sat devouring the
remains of a half-roasted horse; and as they scowled at us savagely, still
holding the large bones they had been gnawing, with their rough hair
and scanty substitutes for clothing blown about by the wind, I thought
I had never beheld a more singular group.

The tall man in uniform was the commandant of the settlement, or
fortress, called Argentina: he and his soldiers had arrived to welcome
us, supposing that we were bringing supplies from Buenos Aires for the
needy colony. The Indian prisoners had been brought to work, and
assist in carrying the supplies which were expected. Finding that we
were neither Buenos Aireans, nor traders from any other place, it was
supposed that we must be spies sent o reconnoitre the place previous
to a hostile attack. Neither the explanations nor assertions of Mr Harris
had any weight, for as he was our countryman, they naturally concluded
he was in league with us; yet, as the commandant had some idea that
we might, by possibility, be what we maintained we were, he dis-
regarded the whispers and suggestions of his people, and offered to
carry us to the settlement for a night’s lodging.

Leaving the boat’s crew to bivouac, as usual, I accepted a horse
offered to me, and took the purser up behind; Mr Darwin and Harris
being also mounted behind two gaucho soldiers, away we went across a
flat plain to the settlement. Mr Darwin was carried off before the rest
of the party, to be cross-questioned by an old major, who seemed to be
considered the wisest man of the detachment, and he, poor old soul,
thought we were very suspicious characters, especially Mr Darwin,
whose objects seemed most mysterious.

In consequence, we were watched, though otherwise most hospitably
treated; and when I proposed to return, next morning, to the boat,
trifling excuses were made about the want of horses and fear of Indians
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arriving, by which I saw that the commandant wished to detain yg but
was unwilling to do so forcibly; telling him, therefore, I should Twa]k
back, and setting out to do so, I elicited an order for horses, maugre the
fears and advice of his major, who gave him all sorts of warnings aboys
us. However, he sent an escort with us, and a troop of gaucho soldiers
were that very morning posted upon the rising grounds nearest to the
Beagle, to keep a watch on our movements.

We afterwards heard, that the old major’s suspicions had been very
much increased by Harris’s explanation of Mr Darwin’s occupation,
‘Un naturalista’ was a term unheard of by any person in the settlement,
and being unluckily explained by Harris as meaning ‘a man that knows
everything,’ any further attempt to quiet anxiety was useless.

As this small settlement has seldom been visited by strangers, I will
describe its primitive state. In the midst of a level country, watered by
several brooks, and much of it thickly covered with a kind of trefoil,
stands a mud-walled erection, dignified with the sounding appellation
of ‘La fortaleza protectora Argentina.’ It is a polygon, 282 yards in
diameter, having about twenty-four sides, and surrounded by a narrow
ditch. In some places the walls are almost twenty feet high, but in
others 1 was reminded of the brothers’ quarrel at the building of
ancient Rome, for there is a mere ditch, over which a man could jump.
It is, however, said by the gauchos, that a ditch six feet wide will stop a
mounted Indian, and that their houses require no further defence from
attacks of the aborigines. How, or why it is that such excellent horsemen
do not teach their horses to leap, I cannot understand.

Within, and outside the fort, were huts and a few small houses: more
were not required for the inhabitants, who, including the garrison, only
amounted to four hundred souls. Some half-dozen brass guns were in
a serviceable condition; and two or three other pieces occupied old
carriages, but did not seem to be trustworthy.

There is pasture for cattle near the streams which descend from the
Sierra Ventana: large salinas (spaces covered with salt) lie within an
easy distance of the settlement: of brushwood for fuel there is plenty,
though there are no large trees: and report says that there are valuable
minerals, including coal and iron, in the Ventana mountain. I believe
there is no good foundation for this report. Mr Darwin’s opinion 18
against the supposition.

The most serious objection to the locality, as an agricultural, or even
as a mere grazing district, is the want of rain. Two or three years some=
times pass without more than a slight shower; and during summer the
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heat is great. In winter, there are sharp frosts, sometimes snow; but
qeither ice nor snow ever lasts through the day.

Good fresh water may be generally obtained, independent of the
few running streams, by digging wells between four and ten feet deep:
.nd in this way we found no difficulty in obtaining an ample supply.

We returned to the Beagle without another delay among the mud-
banks, and found the rising grounds (heights they could not be called),
nearest the ship, occupied by the troop of gaucho soldiers. As they did
not interfere with us, our surveying operations were begun, and carried
on as usual. Mr Darwin, and those who could be spared from duties
afloat, roamed about the country; and a brisk trade was opened with
the soldiers for ostriches and their eggs, for deer, cavies,* and arma-
dilloes.

It is interesting to compare this account with the one from Charles Darwin’s
Diary:

7 September 1832 : In the morning the captain, Rowlett, t}:'le ‘pilnlt and
myself started with a pleasant breeze for the Settlement: it is distant
about twenty miles. Instead of keeping the middle channel, we steered
near to the northern shore: from this cause and from the number of
similar islands, the pilot soon lost his reckoning. We took by chance the
trst creek we could find: but following this for some miles, it gradually
became so narrow, that the oars touched on each side and we were
obliged to stop. These islands rather deserve the name of banks; they
consist of mud which is so soft, that it 1s impossible to walk even the
shortest distance; in many the tops are covered by rushes; and. at
high water the summits of these are only visible. From our boat nothing
within the horizon was to be seen, but these flat beds of mjud'; from
custom an horizontal expanse of water has nothing strange in it; but
this had a most unnatural appearance, partaking in the character of land
and water without the advantages of either. The day was not very clear
and there was much refraction, or as the sailors expressed it, ‘things
loomed high’. The only thing within our view which was not level, was
the horizon; rushes looked like bushes supported in the air by nothing,
and water like mud banks and mud banks like water. With difficulty the
boat was turned in the little creek; and having waited for the tide to rise,
we sailed straight over the mud banks in the middle {lf: the rushes. B;;
heeling the boat over, so that the edge was ona level with the water, 1t
did not draw more than a foot of water. Even with this we had much

# Rodents, like large guinea pigs.
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trouble in getting her along, as we stuck several times on the b
the evening we arrived at the creek, which is about four mj]
from the settlement. Here was a small schooner lying and a mud hut
the bank. There were several of the wild gaucho cavalry waiting to g i
land; they formed by far the most savage, picturesque group [ﬁz::,‘,.u3
beheld. I should have fancied myself in the middle of Turkey by th :
dresses. Round their waists they had bright coloured shawls fnmﬁnm
a petticoat, beneath which were fringed drawers. Their boots were .
singular; they are made from the hide of the hock joint of horses’ hind
legs, so that it is a tube with a bend in it, This they put on fresh, and
thus drying on their legs is never again removed. The spur; are
enormous, the rowels being one to two inches long. ‘They all wore the
poncho, which is [a] large shawl, with a hole in the middle for the head.
Thus equipped with sabres and short muskets, they were mounted on
powerful horses. The men themselves were far more remarkable than
their dresses; the greater number were half Spaniard and Indian; some
of each pure blood and some black. The Indians, whilst gnawing bones
t-:rf be.ef, looked, as they are, half recalled wild beasts. No painter ever
imagined so wild a set of expressions. As the evening was closing in, it
was determined not to return to the vessel by the night; so we all
mounted behind the gauchos, and started at a hand gallop for the fort.
Our reception here was not very cordial. The commandant was inclined
to be civil; but the major, although second in rank, appears to be the
most efficient. He is an o/d Spaniard, with the old feelings of jealousy.
He could not contain his surprise and anxiety at a man-of-war having
arrived for the first time in the harbour. He asked endless questions
about our force etc. and when the captain, praising the bay, assured him
he could bring up even a line of battle-ships, the old gentleman was
appalled and in his mind’s eye saw the British marines taking his fort.
These ridiculous suspicions made it very disagreeable to us; so that the
captain determined to start early in the morning back to the Beagle. The
'_scttle{ncnt is seated on a dead level turf plain, it contains about 400
inhabitants, of which the greater number are soldiers. The place is
fortified, and good occasion they have for it. The place has been
-.:I.ttackcd several times by large bodies of Indians. The war is carried on
in the most barbarous manner. The Indians torture all their prisoners
and the Spaniards shoot theirs. Exactly a week ago the Spaniards,
hearing that the main body of their enemies were gone to northward,
made an excursion and seized a great herd of horses and some prisoners.
Amongst these was the head chief, the old Toriano who has governed
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a great district for many years. When a prisoner, two lesser chiefs or
caciques came one after the other in hopes of arranging a treaty of
liberation, it was all the same to the Spaniards; these three and eight
more were lead out and shot. On the other hand, the commandant’s son
was taken some time since; and being bound, the children (a refinement
in cruelty I never heard of) prepared to kill him with nails and small
knives. A cacique then said that the next day more people would be
present and there would be more sport, so the execution was deferred,
and in the night he escaped.

A Spanish friend of Mr Harris’s received us hospitably. His house
consisted in one large room, but it was cleaner and more comfortable
than those in Brazil. At night I was much exhausted, as it was twelve
hours since I had eaten anything.

8 September: We rode to the boat early in the morning; and with a
fresh breeze arrived at the ship by the middle of the day. It was then
reported to the captain that two men on horseback had been recon-
noitring the ship. The captain well knowing that so small a party of
Spaniards would not venture so far, concluded they were Indians. As we
intended to wood and water near to that spot, it was absolutely necessary
for us to ascertain whether there was any camp there. Accordingly
three boats were manned and armed; before reaching the shore, we saw
five men gallop along the hill and then halt. The captain upon seeing
this sent back the other two boats, wishing not to frighten them, but to
find out who they were, When we came close, the men dismounted and
approached the beach; we immediately then saw it was a party of
cavalry from Bahia Blanca. After landing and conversing with them
they told us they had been sent down to look after the Indians. This to a
certain degree was true, for we found marks of a fire; but their present
purpose evidently was to watch us; this is the more probable as the
officer of the party steadily kept out of sight, the captain having taxed
them with being so suspicious, which they denied. The gauchos were
very civil and took us to the only spot where there was any chance of
water. It was interesting seeing these hardy people fully equipped for
an expedition. They sleep on the bare ground at all times, and as they
travel, get their food; already they had killed a puma or lion; the tongue
of which was the only part they kept; also an ostrich, these they catch
by two heavy balls, fastened to the ends of a long thong. They showed
us the manner of throwing it; holding one ball in their hands, by
degrees they whirl the other round and round, and then with great
force send them both revolving in the air towards any object. Of course
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the instant it strikes an animal’s legs 1t fairly ties them together, The

gave us an ostrich egg, and before we left them they found another ne;;
or rather depositary in which were twenty-four of the great eggs. I¢ i
an undoubted fact that many female ostriches lay in the same spot, thys
forming one of their collections. Having given our friends some dollgrs

they left us in high good humor and assured us they would some day
bring a live lion. We then returned on board.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

My friend’s attention was soon attracted to some low cliffs near Point
Alta, where he found some of those huge fossil bones, described in his
work; and notwithstanding our smiles at the cargoes of apparent
rubbish which he frequently brought on board, he and his servant used
their pick-axes in earnest, and brought away what have since proved to
be most interesting and valuable remains of extinct animals.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary :

22 September 1832 : Had a very pleasant cruise about the bay with the
captain and Sulivan. We stayed some time on Punta Alta about ten
miles from the ship; here I found some rocks. These are the first I have
seen, and are very interesting from containing numerous shells and the
bones of large animals. The day was perfectly calm; the smooth water
and the sky were indistinctly separated by the ribbon of mud banks: the
whole formed a most unpicturesque picture. It is a pity such bright
clear weather should be wasted on a country, where half its charms do

not appear. We got on board just in time to escape a heavy squall and
rain.

23 September : A large party was sent to fish in a creek about eight miles
distant; great numbers of fish were caught. I walked on to Punta Alta
to look after fossils; and to my great joy, I found the head of some larglﬂ
animal, imbedded in a soft rock. It took me nearly three hours to get it
out. As far as I am able to judge, it is allied to the rhinoceros. I did not
get it on board till some hours after it was dark.

24 September: Employed in carefully packing up the prizes of yesterday-
In the morning one of the schooners arrived, and the other is shortly
expected. They have had a very bad passage of six days. Mr Rowlett
brings back an excellent account of Rio Negro. Nothing could exceed
the civility of the governor and the inhabitants; it was rendered the

more striking from the contrast of our reception at the fort of Bahia
Blanca.
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25 September : The schooner has been taken to the creek. Mr Wickham
and a party of men have erected tents on shore and are living there,
during the refit of the vessel. I accompanied the little settlement arfd
whilst they were rigging the tents I walked to Punta Alta and again
obtained several fossils. 1 came quite close to an ostrich on her nest; but
did not see her till she rose up and with her long legs stretched across

the country.

From Captain FitzRo)’s Narrative:

Four kinds of armadilloes were described to us by these men, of which
we saw but two: the quiriquincha, with nine bands; the mataca-bola,
which rolls up into a ball; the peludo, which is large and hairy; and the
molito, of which I heard only the name. Mr Rowlett saw a black fox,
and he was told that there are wolves in the neighbourhood. Two small
burrowing animals are also found: the zorillo, or skunk; and the tucu-
rucu. While speaking of animals, I should say that Cﬂmmandz.m;t
Rodriguez told me that he had once seen, in Paraguay, a ‘gr_an bestia’,
not many months old, but which then stood about four feet high. It was
very fierce, and secured by a chain. Its shape resembled ths_.t of a hr.:;g,
but it had talons on its feet instead of hoofs; the snout was _llkc a hog’s,
but much longer. When half-grown, he was told that it would be
capable of seizing and carrying away a horse or a bullf:uck. I cnncluc!ed
that he must have seen a tapir or anta; yet as he persisted in asserting
that the animal he saw was a beast of prey, and that it was extremely
rare, | here repeat what he said.

Abundance — I may well say shoals of fish were caught‘ by‘ our men,
whenever we hauled the nets at a proper time (the beginning of the
flood-tide); and as they were chiefly unknown to naturalists, Mr Earle
made careful drawings of them, and Mr Darwin preserved many in
spirits. We procured plenty of good fresh water from wells near the
beach, and small wood for fuel in their immediate HﬂlghbDUE'hﬂﬂd. ’I:he
climate is delightful, and healthy to the utmost degree, notwithstanding
such extensive flats, half-covered with water, and so many large mud-
banks.

In our rambles over the country, near Port Belgrano, we every where
found small pieces of pumice-stone; and till Mr Darwin mnﬂned the
Ventana, supposed they had been thrown Ehenoe: he has, however,
ascertained that it is not volcanic; and, 1 believe, concludes that these
fragments came from the Cordillera of the ﬂndes: _

The aborigines of these regions attach considerable importance to
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the Ventana, chiefly on account of its use as a landmark: for
3

abruptly to the height of 3,340 feet in a flat country, where
not anu}her hill of consequence, it is of no small yse ;n them j :

wanderings. I was told by Mr Darwin that he found it to be clzlef;hm
quartz formation; but I need not risk causing a mistake by r i
here the information which he gave me, when it is given flzll in hj =
words in the accompanying volume. o

After a few days’ examination of Port Belgrano, and making inauie:
of Har-ns, as wFll as those persons at Argentina who knew ;;li:al:l?iumai'
the neighbouring waters and shores, I was convinced that the Br:gi-
alone could not explore them, so far as to make her survey of an :.g |
use,.urfless she were to sacrifice a great deal more time than wuu};d ?c
admissible, considering the other objects of her expedition. What then
was to be done? Open boats could not explore the seaward limits of
those numerous shoals which lie between Blanco Bay and the River
Negro, because there are dangerous tide-races, and often heavy seas
ThﬁﬁBmgI: herself, no doubt, could do 50, and her boats might e.xplnrr:
the u?lets; but, the time that such a proceeding would occupy was
alarming to contemplate, | might run along the outer line of danger in
the Beagle, and connect it with the soundings in the offing; but how
could an English ship surveying a frequented coast overlook six large
ports, only because their examination required time, and was dangerous ?

At last, after much anxious deliberation, I decided to hire two small
schooners — or rather decked boats, schooner-rigged — from Mr Harris
and employ them in assisting the Beagle and her boats. Mr Harris Wﬂ;
to be in the larger, as pilot to Lieutenant Wickham — and his friend Mr
Roberts, also settled at Del Carmen, on the River Negro, was to be
hf'lr Stokes’s pilot in the smaller vessel. These small craft, of fifteen and
mne tons respectively, guided by their owners, who had for years
frequented this complication of banks, harbours, and tides, seemed to
me capable of fulfilling the desired object — under command of such
steady and able heads as the officers mentioned — with this great
ad:vantage.; l'.hatf while the Beagle might be procuring supplies at Monte
1{1{:1@, going with the Fuegians on her first trip to the southward, and
visiting the Falkland islands, the survey of all those intricacies between
l?lancu Bay and San Blas might be carried on steadily during the finest
time of year. One serious difficulty, that of my not being authorized to
hire or purchase assistance on account of the Government, I did not
then Eiwell upon, for I was anxious and eager, and, it has proved, 100
sanguine. I made an agreement with Mr Harris, on my own individual
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responsibility, for such payment as seemed to be fair compensation for
his stipulated services, and I did hope that if the results of these
arrangements should turn out well, I should stand excused for having
presumed to act so freely, and should be reimbursed for the sum laid
out, which I could so ill spare. However, I foresaw and was willing to
run the risk, and now console myself for this, and other subsequent
mortifications, by the reflection that the service entrusted to me did not
suffer.

The formal agreement with Mr Harris being duly signed, I des-
patched him forthwith to the River Negro, in search of his vessels, and
sent the purser with him to ascertain the state of things at Del Carmen,
especially with a view to future supplies.

Our boats were constantly employed while these arrangements were
pending, and directly they were finished, the Beagle got under sail to
examine the entrance and outer parts of the port. For several days she
was thus engaged, anchoring always at night. In a week the schooners
arrived, bringing our purser and their owners. The Paz, of about
fifteen tons burthen, was as ugly and ill-built a craft as I ever saw,
covered with dirt, and soaked with rancid oil, The Liebre, of about nine
tons burthen, was a frigate’s barge, raised and decked — oily like the
other; but as both had done their owners good service in procuring seal
and sea-clephant oil, I saw no reason to doubt our being able to make
them answer our purpose. Yet the prospect for those who had so
handsomely volunteered to go in any thing, with or without a deck,
could not be otherwise than extremely unpleasant; for they did not then
foresee how soon a thorough cleansing and complete outfit would be
given to both vessels, and how different they would afterwards appear.

Lieutenant Wickham, with the sailmaker, armourer, cooper, and a
small party, were immediately established under tents, on the banks of
a small creek. The little schooners were hauled ashore for examination
and a thorough refit; and then, having left them the stores and other
necessaries which they would require, I went with the Beagle towards
Blanco Bay; completed the examination of a narrow though deep
channel, by which any ship may enter Port Belgrano, passed round the
great north bank, and again anchored under Mount Hermoso. While
some officers and men were on shore there, building a sea-mark on the
mount, and otherwise employed for the survey, a gale of wind came on
from SE., which soon sent so heavy a sea into the roadstead near the
mount, that the Beagle was obliged to strike topmasts and veer a long
scope of cable upon two anchors, besides having another under foot.
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Unluckily, our party on shore had only one day’s provisions, so while
the gale lasted their situation was sufficiently disagreeable; the keen air
and hard exercise sharpening their appetites, while they had nothing to
eat after the first day; and having no guns, they had no prospect of
procuring anything. Mr Darwin was also on shore, having been search-
ing for fossils, and he found this trial of hunger quite long enough tg
satisfy even his love of adventure. Directly it was possible to put a boat
on the water, one was sent, with provisions secured in a cask which was
thrown overboard at the back of the surf, and soon drifted ashore to the
famishing party. This gale lasted several days, and proved to us not only
how heavy a sea is thrown into this bight by a south-east gale; but also,

that the holding-ground is sufficiently good to enable a ship to with-
stand its effects.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary:

1 October 1832 : The morning threatened us with heavy weather; but it
blew over in a hail storm. We have anchored near to a cliff, upon which
the captain intends to erect some land-mark as a guide in entering the
harbour.

2 October : Early in the morning the captain with a large party landed in
the four whale boats. Dinner for all hands was taken, as it was intended
to work at the land-mark all day and return in the evening. King and I
went in one direction to geologize and Mr Bynoe in another to shoot.
During our walk I observed the wind had freshened and altered its
point; but I paid no further attention to it. When we returned to the
beach, we found two of the boats hauled up high and dry and the
others gone on board. The captain, two hours previously, had had some
difficulty in getting off and now the line of white breakers clearly
showed the impossibility. It was an unpleasant prospect to pass the
night with thin clothes on the bare ground; but it was unavoidable, so
we made the best of it. Mr Stokes and Johnson were left in command
and made what arrangements they could. At night no supper was served
out; as we were eighteen on shore and very little food left. We made a
sort of tent or screen with the boat’s sails and prepared to pass the night.
It was very cold, but by all huddling in a heap we managed pretty well
till the rain began, and then we were sufficiently miserable.

3 October : At daybreak things wore a very bad appearance. The sky
looked dirty and it blew a gale of wind ; a heavy surf was roaring on the
beach; and what was the worst of all, the men thought this weather
would last. The Beagle was pitching very deeply and we thought it not
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impossible she would be forced to slip cable and run out to sea. We
Jfterwards heard she rode it out well, but that some of the scas went
right over her, although having 120 fathoms of cable out. It was now
time to look after our provisions: we breakfasted on some small birds
and two gulls, and a large hawk which was found dead on the beach.
Our dinner was not much better, as it consisted in a fish left by the tide
and the bones of the meat, which we were determined to keep for the
next day. In the evening, however, to our great joy and surprise the
wind lulled and the Captain in his boat was able to come within some
hundred yards of the coast; he then threw over a cask with provisions,
which some of the men swam out to and secured. This was all very well;
but against the cold at night there was no remedy. Nothing wm_xld
break the wind, which was so cold that there was snow in the morning
on the Sierra de Ventana. I never knew how painful cold could be; I was
unable to sleep, even for a minute, from my body shivering so much.
The men also who swam for the provisions suffered extremely, from not
being able to get warm again.

4 October : By the middle of the next day we were all on board I’!'IE
Beagle; and most throughily after our little adventure did we enjoy 1ts
luxuries. In the evening we moved our anchorage and stood in towards
our old place.

5 October: Some of the men felt rather unwell, but none of us are made
at all ill by it. The wind has been very light all day, and we have made
little progress.

Midshipman P.G. King’s account :

[t was necessary to erect a beacon as a guide to vessels making for Bahia
Blanca, south of the entrance to the River Plata. The Beagle anchored
some distance from that bar bound bay on the open coast line about a
mile from the shore. Three boats’ crews were sent away am:l effected a
landing through the surf, a day’s provisions had been supplied to them
supposing they would return in the evening. A gale from the snﬁuth—ea%t
however sprang suddenly up making a dead lee shore from which their
little vessel could for two days be seen holding on to her two anchors,
pitching bows under. Mr Darwin and the writer were of the shore party
which turned the boats bottom up on the beach for shelter for th_e:
nights they passed without more food than they,: had saved from their
first supper with the addition of a dead hawk picked up on the shore.
The scene to Mr Darwin and indeed to the others was a novel one and
the probability that the ship might drag from her anchors or part her
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cables was present to many minds. However the gale moderated and
boat was seen to leave the Beagle, the captain himself in it, wih a ca :
of provisions which was thrown into the surf just outside the breakel-s:
Several splendid looking men soon stripped and went to land the cask‘
the danger being that it might be dashed to pieces on the rocks, Th,;b
head of the cask was soon knocked in and Mr Darwin and the party
stood round it to receive each his share.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

One of our party on shore, who is not likely to forget building a mark on
Mount Hermoso, discovered many curious fossils in some low cliffs
under the mount; and judging from what Mr Darwin then found, future
collectors may reap a rich harvest there, as well as at Point Alta.

We next returned to the creek, and while some assisted the outfit of
Lieutenant Wickham’s little vessels, others explored the upper parts of
the port, quite to its end, and Mr Darwin took advantage of the
opportunity to make some of those interesting excursions which he
describes in his volume. At this time there were no soldiers to watch us,
neither was there any longer a suspicion of our character; for it appeared
that an express had been sent off to Buenos Aires, at our first arrival,
giving an exaggerated and rather ludicrous account of our officers,
instruments and guns — to which an answer had been immediately
returned, desiring the commandant to afford us every facility in his
power, and checking the old major rather sharply for his officious and
unnecessary caution. Had we not been hastily treated in the roads of
Buenos Aires, when I went there to communicate with the government,
and obtain information, I should doubtless have carried with me orders,
or a letter, to this commandant, which would have prevented a moment’s
suspicion: but, as it happened, no real delay was occasioned, and no
person was much disturbed except the major, who fancied that our
brass guns were disguised field-pieces, our instruments lately invented
engines of extraordinary power, our numerous boats intended expressly
for disembarking troops; and an assertion of mine, that any number of
line-of-battle ships might enter the port, a sure indication that the
Beagle was sent to find a passage for large ships: which would soon
appear, and take possession of the country. Such was the substance of
his communication to the government at Buenos Aires, and as he acted

as secretary — Rodriguez being a man of action rather than words - h.ﬂ
had free scope for his disturbed imagination. I shall not easily forget his
countenance, when I first told him - thinking he would be glad to hear
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it — that there was a deep channel leading from Blanco Bay to the
Guardia near Argentina, and that a line-of-battle ship could approach
within gunshot of the place where I first met the commandant. He
certainly thought himself almost taken prisoner; and I really believe
that if he had been commanding officer, we should have been sent in
chains to Buenos Aires, or perhaps still worse treated. Fortunately,

Rodriguez the commandant, being a brave man, and a gentleman, con-
templated no such measures.

From Charles Darwin’s Diary :

13, 14 (Sunday) and 15 October 1832 : On Sunday the schooners came
down from the creek and anchored alongside. Their appearance is much
improved by their refit; but they look very small. La Paz is the largest,
carrying seventeen tons; La Liebre only eleven and a half. Between the
two they have fifteen souls. Mr Stokes and Mellersh are in La Paz;
Mr Wickham and King in the other. They sail on Wednesday. I look
forward to our separation with much regret; our society on board can
ill afford to lose such very essential members. I am afraid the whole party
will undergo many privations; the cabin in the smaller one is at present
only two and a half feet high! Their immediate business will be to
survey South of B. Blanca: and at the end of next month we meet them
at Rio Negro, in the bay of St Blas.

From Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

18 October 1832: No person who had only seen the Paz and Liebre in
their former wretched condition, would easily have recognised them
after being refitted, and having indeed almost a new equipment. Spars
altered, and improved rigging, well-cut sails, fresh paint, and thorough
cleanliness, had transformed the dirty sealing craft into smart little
cock-boats: and as they sailed out of Port Belgrano with the Beagle,
their appearance and behaviour were by no means discouraging.

At dusk, Lieutenant Wickham and his small party of venturous
associates separated from us, and steered into False Bay. The Beagle
anchored for the night, and the next day pursued her route towards
Monte Video, where she arrived on the 26th.

Desirous of communicating with the government at Buenos Aires,
and measuring the difference of meridians between that city and Monte
Video, we weighed anchor on the 31st, proceeded up the river, and
remained in the outer roadstead, off Buenos Aires, until 10 November,
We then employed three days in verifying the positions of some banks,
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as laid down in Heywood’s and other charts, and returned tq Monte
Video on the 14th.

27 November : Our arrangements and observations being satisfactorily
completed, a sufficient quantity of provision on board to last eight
months, at full allowance, and an extra supply of iron and coals for the
forge, in case of any serious accident, the Beagle sailed from Monte
Video; and, after filling water near Cape Jesu Maria, hastened to look
after her little assistants, left near Bahia Blanca.

In this trip we benefitted by the assistance of Mr Robert N. Hamond,

an early and much esteemed friend of mine, who was lent to the Beagle
from H.M.S. Druid, of which he was then a mate.

3 December : Soon after daylight we saw the very low islands, just to the
northward of San Blas. We stood directly towards the shore, but when
eight miles from it found a wide breadth of discoloured water, and the
depth shoaled suddenly from ten to three fathoms in a few casts of the
lead. Hauling off, we steered southward, with the ebb tide.

While tracing the outer edge of this bank we descried our cock-boats
coming out to meet us, and soon afterwards Mr Wickham came on
board. He gave us gratifying news with little drawback; but had he been
half-roasted his own appearance could hardly have been more changed.
Notwithstanding the protection of a huge beard, every part of his face
was so scorched and blistered by the sun that he could hardly speak,
much less join in the irresistible laugh at his own expense. His com-
panions were similarly sun-burned, though not to such a degree. They
had been much occupied in sounding extensive banks and harbours,
under a hot sun, and while a fresh wind kept them constantly wet with
spray. But this inconvenience was trifling; one of more importance was
excessive seasickness, in consequence of the short and violent move-
ments of such small craft under sail among the tide-races and eddies so
numerous on that coast.

In other respects all had prospered so well, that I determined to give
Mr Wickham fresh orders, enlarging considerably his share of surveying
operations. He was desired to continue exploring the coast, even as far
as Port Desire, until the Beagle’s return from her visit to Tierra del
Fuego and the Falkland Islands.

As the weather promised well, an anchor was dropped where We
were, outside the banks, but the schooners sought shelter in the
harbour of San Blas. Next day they came out and anchored close to Us,
in order to receive stores and various supplies which we had brought for
them from Buenos Aires and Monte Video. I was a little uneasy when I
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saw that the pilot of the Liebre, Mr Roberts, was one of the largest of
men, and that his little vessel looked, by comparison, no bigger than a
coffin; but Mr Wickham allayed my doubts by assuring me that his
moveable weight answered admirably in trimming the craft; and that,
when she got a-ground, Mr Roberts stepped overboard, and heaved her
afloat. ‘Certainly,” said Mr Wickham, ‘he did harm on one day, by
going up to look-out, and breaking the mast.’

In the afternoon of this day (4th) we weighed anchor and parted
company from the Paz and Liebre. They returned to San Blas, and the
Beagle steered southward. Secure and capacious as is the port just
mentioned, it is one of the most difficult and dangerous to enter on this
coast. The best, indeed only approach to it, is called by those sealers and
sea-elephant fishers who have hitherto frequented it, ‘Hell-gate’.

At about four the weather was very hot, the sky cloudless, and vary-
ing flaws of wind drove quantities of gossamer, and numbers of insects
off from the land. The horizon was strangely distorted by refraction, and
I anticipated some violent change. Suddenly myriads of white butter-
flies surrounded the ship, in such multitudes, that the men exclaimed,
it is snowing butterflies.” They were driven before a gust from the
north-west, which soon increased to a double-reefed topsail breeze, and
were as numerous as flakes of snow in the thickest shower. The space
they occupied could not have been less than two hundred yards in
height, a mile in width, and several miles in length.



4. TIERRA DEL IUEGO

Captain FitzRoy’s Narrative:

Our next object was to visit Tierra del 